Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

LBL Publications

Title

First subleading power resummation for event shapes

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7733k6h1

Authors

Moult, Ian Stuart, IW Vita, G <u>et al.</u>

Publication Date 2023-12-31

Peer reviewed

Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: April 23, 2018 ACCEPTED: July 30, 2018 PUBLISHED: August 6, 2018

First subleading power resummation for event shapes

Ian Moult,^{a,b} Iain W. Stewart,^c Gherardo Vita^c and Hua Xing Zhu^d

- ^aBerkeley Center for Theoretical Physics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, U.S.A.
- ^b Theoretical Physics Group, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA 94720, U.S.A.
- ^cCenter for Theoretical Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, U.S.A.

^d Department of Physics, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 310027, China E-mail: ianmoult@lbl.gov, iains@mit.edu, vita@mit.edu, zhuhx@zju.edu.cn

ABSTRACT: We derive and analytically solve renormalization group (RG) equations of gauge invariant non-local Wilson line operators which resum logarithms for event shape observables τ at subleading power in the $\tau \ll 1$ expansion. These equations involve a class of universal jet and soft functions arising through operator mixing, which we call θ -jet and θ -soft functions. An illustrative example involving these operators is introduced which captures the generic features of subleading power resummation, allowing us to derive the structure of the RG to all orders in α_s , and provide field theory definitions of all ingredients. As a simple application, we use this to obtain an analytic leading logarithmic result for the subleading power resummed thrust spectrum for $H \to gg$ in pure glue QCD. This resummation determines the nature of the double logarithmic series at subleading power, which we find is still governed by the cusp anomalous dimension. We check our result by performing an analytic calculation up to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$. Consistency of the subleading power RG relates subleading power anomalous dimensions, constrains the form of the θ -soft and θ -jet functions, and implies an exponentiation of higher order loop corrections in the subleading power collinear limit. Our results provide a path for carrying out systematic resummation at subleading power for collider observables.

KEYWORDS: Effective Field Theories, Perturbative QCD, Renormalization Group, Resummation

ARXIV EPRINT: 1804.04665



Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1
2	Rer	normalization at subleading power	4
	2.1	An illustrative example at subleading power	5
	2.2	θ -jet and θ -soft functions and RG equations	6
	2.3	Renormalization group consistency	10
3	Solu	ution to the subleading power RG mixing equation	15
	3.1	General solution	16
	3.2	Solution with equal diagonal entries	18
4	Leading logarithmic resummation at next-to-leading power		2 1
	4.1	Kinematic and observable corrections	22
		4.1.1 Factorization	22
		4.1.2 Resummation	24
	4.2	Hard scattering operators	25
		4.2.1 Factorization	26
		4.2.2 Resummation	27
	4.3	Resummed result for thrust in $H \to gg$ at next-to-leading power	30
5	Subleading power collinear limit and fixed order check		31
	5.1	General structure	32
	5.2	Subleading power collinear splitting	33
6	Conclusions		37
A	Solution to subleading power RG mixing equation in momentum space 3		
в	Leading logarithms for thrust from collinear limits of amplitudes 3		

1 Introduction

Due to the complexity of interacting gauge theories in four dimensions, simplifying limits such as the soft, collinear, or Regge limits play a central role. These limits are important both phenomenologically, where they often capture dominant contributions to processes of interest, as well as theoretically, where they place important constraints on the structure of amplitudes and cross sections. While well understood at leading power, less is known about the all orders perturbative structure of the subleading power corrections to these limits. These subleading power corrections have recently been attracting a growing level of interest, see for example [1-31]. A subset of these analyses consider power corrections to the threshold limit of Drell Yan and related processes, where there are no contributions from power corrections due to real collinear radiation.

In this paper we will study the all orders structure of subleading power corrections to both the soft and collinear limits. This requires corrections beyond the type that can be studied from the threshold limit. Using soft collinear effective theory (SCET) [32–35], which allows for a systematic power expansion using operator and Lagrangian based techniques, we will show for the first time how subleading power logarithms can be resummed to all orders in α_s for an event shape, which for concreteness we take to be thrust, $T = 1 - \tau$ [36], with $\tau \ll 1$ in the simplified example of pure glue QCD for the process $H \rightarrow gg$ mediated by the effective operator $HG^a_{\mu\nu}G^{\mu\nu a}$ obtained by integrating out the top quark. In particular, we will show that at subleading power higher order corrections in α_s exponentiate at leading logarithmic (LL) accuracy into a single logarithmic term multiplying the same type of Sudakov form factor [37] as at leading power. Our approach is general, allowing other observables to be considered, and making clear what ingredients are needed to achieve higher logarithmic accuracy, as well as higher orders in the power expansion.

The all orders cross section for the thrust observable can be expanded in powers of τ (here τ is taken to be dimensionless), keeping all orders in α_s at each power

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{(0)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} + \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{(1)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} + \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} + \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{(3)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} + \mathcal{O}(\tau) \,. \tag{1.1}$$

Here $d\sigma^{(n)}/d\tau$ captures to all orders in α_s terms that scale like $\tau^{n/2-1}$, and for thrust the odd powers $d\sigma^{(2\ell+1)}/d\tau$ vanish. The leading power (LP) terms scale as $1/\tau$ (including $\delta(\tau)$) modulo logarithms. Explicitly, we have

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{d\sigma^{(0)}}{d\tau} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-1}^{2n-1} \left(\frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{4\pi}\right)^n c_{n,m}^{(0)} \mathcal{L}_m(\tau) , \qquad (1.2)$$

where $\mathcal{L}_{m\geq 0}(\tau) = [\theta(\tau)\log^m(\tau)/\tau]_+$ is a standard plus-function which integrates to zero over the interval $\tau \in [0, 1]$, and $\mathcal{L}_{-1}(\tau) = \delta(\tau)$. Here the $c_{n,m}^{(0)}$ coefficients include $\log(\mu/Q)$ dependence, where $Q = m_H$ is the mass of the Higgs boson setting the scale of the hard scattering. All orders factorization theorems [38–41] can be proven at leading power for a number of event shape like observables [35, 42–45]. For the particular case of thrust in $H \to gg$, we have [44–46]

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{(0)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = H^{(0)}(Q,\mu) \int ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk \,\hat{\delta}_\tau \, J_g^{(0)}(s_n,\mu) \, J_g^{(0)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) \, S_g^{(0)}(k,\mu) \,, \tag{1.3}$$

where

$$\hat{\delta}_{\tau} = \delta \left(\tau - \frac{s_n}{Q^2} - \frac{s_{\bar{n}}}{Q^2} - \frac{k}{Q} \right) , \qquad (1.4)$$

is the thrust measurement function. Here $H^{(0)}(Q,\mu)$ is a hard function, $J_g^{(0)}(s,\mu)$ are gluon jet functions, and $S_g^{(0)}(k,\mu)$ is the adjoint soft function, whose precise definitions will be given in eqs. (2.4) and (2.5) respectively. We normalize such that at lowest order $H^{(0)}$ is 1, and the jet and soft functions are δ -functions. The jet and soft functions are gauge invariant infrared finite matrix elements, which obey simple renormalization group (RG) evolution equations that predict infinite towers of higher order logarithmically enhanced terms. The number of logarithms that are predicted is dictated by the logarithmic accuracy, denoted by N^kLL. Explicitly, for the first few orders, a resummation at N^kLL can be used to predict all the terms $c_{n,m}^{(0)}$, satisfying

LL predicts :
$$m = 2n - 1$$
, (1.5)
NLL predicts : $m \ge 2n - 2$,
NNLL predicts : $m \ge 2n - 4$,
N³LL predicts : $m \ge 2n - 6$,

for any *n*. Technically, for these resummations this counting is applied for $\log(d\sigma^{(0)}/dy)$ where *y* is Fourier conjugate to τ .¹ For thrust, these logarithms were first resummed to NLL in [47, 48]. Factorization and renormalization has been used to resum large logarithmic contributions to a number of e^+e^- event shapes at leading power at N³LL order [49–53].

Additional terms in eq. (1.1) are suppressed by powers of $\lambda \sim \sqrt{\tau}$, with odd powers, $d\sigma^{(2\ell+1)}/d\tau$ vanishing, so that the series involves only integer powers of τ [7, 15, 29, 54]. These power suppressed terms do not involve distributions, and at power $\tau^{\ell-1}$ for $\ell \geq 1$ can be written as

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{d\sigma^{(2\ell)}}{d\tau} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{2n-1} \left(\frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{4\pi}\right)^n c_{n,m}^{(2\ell)} \tau^{\ell-1} \log^m(\tau) \,. \tag{1.6}$$

The structure of the subleading power terms is much less well understood, despite considerable effort. The first non-trivial power corrections are described by $d\sigma^{(2)}/d\tau$, i.e. at $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2) \sim \mathcal{O}(\tau)$, which we will refer to as next-to-leading power (NLP). The subleading power terms at $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$ have recently been analytically computed in fixed order to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^2 \log^3)$ for thrust [15, 21, 22] and N-jettiness [21, 22, 25] for the first time, and the next-to-leading logarithms for N-jettiness at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ have been examined in [55]. There has also been recent work on calculations of power corrections for p_T in Drell-Yan [24, 27], in the Regge limit [56, 57], and for subleading power quark mass effects [58]. All these calculations have hinted at a simple structure for the power corrections, motivating an all orders understanding.

In a series of papers, we have developed within SCET all the ingredients relevant for the factorization and all orders description at $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$ for the case of dijet production from a color singlet current. This includes the bases of hard scattering operators [29– 31], the factorization of the measurement function [29], and the factorization of 'radiative' contributions arising from subleading power Lagrangian insertions [59]. In this paper we combine these ingredients, and carry out the resummation of the leading logarithmic (LL)

¹The standard counting which defines the resummation orders in position space is given by identifying the terms as $\log(d\sigma^{(0)}/dy) \simeq \sum_k (\alpha_s \log)^k \log |_{\rm LL} + (\alpha_s \log)^k |_{\rm NLL} + (\alpha_s \log)^k \alpha_s |_{\rm NNLL} + (\alpha_s \log)^k \alpha_s^2 |_{\rm N^3LL} + \dots$. This means that the resummation yields terms beyond those indicated in eq. (1.5) when expanded at the cross section level.

contributions to all orders in α_s for NLP corrections to thrust. In particular, this determines all terms $c_{n,2n-1}^{(2)}$ for any n in eq. (1.6), giving all the terms in the series

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{d\sigma^{(2)}}{d\tau} = \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right) c_{1,1}^{(2)} \log \tau + \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^2 c_{2,3}^{(2)} \log^3 \tau + \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^3 c_{3,5}^{(2)} \log^5 \tau + \cdots, \qquad (1.7)$$

$$= \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right) 8C_A \log \tau - \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^2 32C_A^2 \log^3 \tau + \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^3 64C_A^3 \log^5 \tau + \dots, \qquad (1.7)$$

where in the second line we have given the first few terms of the result that we will derive for thrust in pure glue $H \to gg$. Note that this series starts at $\alpha_s \log \tau$, which has interesting consequences for the resummation. We will show that this necessitates the introduction of new jet and soft functions which arise through mixing, and which we term θ -jet and θ soft functions. We will analytically solve the corresponding subleading power RG equation involving the mixing, and including the running coupling. We consider for simplicity the case of thrust in $H \to gg$ without fermions, i.e. in a pure SU(3) Yang-Mills theory without matter. This will allow us to illustrate the conceptual complexities of renormalization at the cross section level in the simplest possible setting with a smaller set of operators. The addition of operators relevant for including fermions will be considered in future work.

An outline of this paper is as follows. In section 2 we show in the context of an illustrative example how one can renormalize subleading power jet and soft functions. The illustrative example allows for an understanding of the renormalization to all orders in α_s , and allows us to provide complete field theoretical definitions for all functions involved in the RG flow. This involves a new class of jet and soft functions which arise at cross section level through mixing, which we demonstrate is a generic feature at subleading power that is needed to predict the series that starts at $\alpha_s \log \tau$. At $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$, this gives rise to a 2 \times 2 mixing structure for the RG equations. We study in detail the consistency equations for this type of RG evolution, allowing us to derive powerful and general constraints on the structure of operators that can be mixed into at subleading powers. In section 3 we solve the general form of the subleading power mixing equation, including the running coupling as is relevant for subleading power resummation in QCD. In section 4 we apply this to resum the leading logs at subleading power for thrust in pure glue $H \to gg$, deriving the structure of the Sudakov exponent for the subleading power corrections. In section 5 we perform a fixed order check of our result. We explicitly calculate to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_{*}^{3})$ the $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{2})$ leading logarithms, confirming the result predicted by the RG. Furthemore, we interpret the fixed order expansion in terms of information about the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^n)$ corrections to subleading power splitting functions. We conclude in section 6.

2 Renormalization at subleading power

In this section we study the structure and completeness of jet and soft functions for renormalization group equations at subleading power. In section 2.1 we introduce a simple illustrative example which can be studied to all orders from known factorization properties at leading power, and from which many interesting lessons about the structure of subleading power resummation can be deduced. This example also appears explicitly for thrust in $H \rightarrow gg$ from contributions from subleading power kinematic corrections. In section 2.2, we show that the renormalization of the subleading power jet and soft functions in our illustrative example leads to mixing into jet and soft functions involving θ -functions of the measurement operator, which we term θ -jet and θ -soft functions, and we derive the structure of the RG to all orders in α_s . In section 2.3 we study RG consistency in a setup that is a generalization of our illustrative example in order to derive general constraints at subleading power on the structure of anomalous dimensions and on the appearance of θ -function operators.

2.1 An illustrative example at subleading power

Our illustrative example of a subleading power factorization is obtained by multiplying the leading power factorization by τ and using

$$\tau \hat{\delta}_{\tau} = \tau \delta(\tau - \tau_n - \tau_{\bar{n}} - \tau_s) = (\tau_n + \tau_{\bar{n}} + \tau_s) \hat{\delta}_{\tau} , \qquad (2.1)$$

which gives a subleading power cross section whose factorized structure follows immediately from the leading power factorization of eq. (1.3):

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{d\sigma^{(2)}}{d\tau} = H^{(0)}(Q,\mu) \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q^2} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} \left[s_n J_g^{(0)}(s_n,\mu) \right] J_g^{(0)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) S_g^{(0)}(k,\mu) \quad (2.2)
+ H^{(0)}(Q,\mu) \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q^2} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} J_g^{(0)}(s_n,\mu) \left[s_{\bar{n}} J_g^{(0)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) \right] S_g^{(0)}(k,\mu)
+ H^{(0)}(Q,\mu) \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} J_g^{(0)}(s_n,\mu) J_g^{(0)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) \left[k S_g^{(0)}(k,\mu) \right].$$

This can be written in terms of subleading power jet and soft functions as

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{d\sigma^{(2)}}{d\tau} = H^{(0)}(Q,\mu) \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q^2} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} J_g^{(2)}(s_n,\mu) J_g^{(0)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) S_g^{(0)}(k,\mu) \qquad (2.3)$$

$$+ H^{(0)}(Q,\mu) \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q^2} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} J_g^{(0)}(s_n,\mu) J_g^{(2)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) S_g^{(0)}(k,\mu) \\
+ H^{(0)}(Q,\mu) \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} J_g^{(0)}(s_n,\mu) J_g^{(0)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) S_g^{(2)}(k,\mu).$$

The superscripts indicate the power of the function, namely those with superscript (0) are LP in the τ expansion, while those with superscript (2) are power suppressed by $\lambda^2 \sim \tau$. In this factorization, $H^{(0)}(Q,\mu)$ is the leading power hard function, which is process dependent, and will not play an important role in the current discussion. The leading power jet function, which for $H \to gg$ is a gluon jet function, is defined as a matrix element of collinear fields

$$J_{g}^{(0)}(s,\mu) = \frac{(2\pi)^{3}}{(N_{c}^{2}-1)} \left\langle 0 \left| \mathcal{B}_{n\perp\mu}^{a}(0) \,\delta(Q+\bar{\mathcal{P}}) \delta^{2}(\mathcal{P}_{\perp}) \,\delta\left(\frac{s}{Q}-\hat{\mathcal{T}}\right) \,\mathcal{B}_{n\perp}^{\mu a}(0) \left| 0 \right\rangle,$$
(2.4)

where $\mathcal{B}_{n\perp}^{a\mu}$, is a gauge invariant gluon field (see eq. (4.17) for an explicit definition), and the leading power adjoint soft function is given by

$$S_{g}^{(0)}(k,\mu) = \frac{1}{(N_{c}^{2}-1)} \operatorname{tr} \left\langle 0 \left| \mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}^{T}(0) \mathcal{Y}_{n}(0) \delta(k-\hat{\mathcal{T}}) \mathcal{Y}_{n}^{T}(0) \mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}(0) \right| 0 \right\rangle,$$
(2.5)

where \mathcal{Y}_n , $\mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}$ are adjoint Wilson lines along the given lightlike directions. Explicitly,

$$\mathcal{Y}_{n}^{bc}(x) = \mathbf{P} \exp\left[g \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \, n \cdot A_{us}^{a}(x+sn) f^{abc}\right] \,. \tag{2.6}$$

In both cases, $\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ is an operator that returns the value of \mathcal{T} measured on a given state, where the dimensionless thrust $\tau = \mathcal{T}/Q$. In general it can be written in terms of the energy momentum tensor of the effective theory [60–65]. At tree level, $J_g^{(0)}(s,\mu) = \delta(s) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ and $S_g^{(0)}(k,\mu) = \delta(k) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$.

After multiplying by τ , the operator definitions for the subleading power jet and soft functions appearing in eq. (2.2) are simply

$$J_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(s,\mu) = \frac{(2\pi)^3}{(N_c^2 - 1)} \left\langle 0 \right| \mathcal{B}_{n\perp}^{\mu a}(0) \,\delta(Q + \bar{\mathcal{P}}) \delta^2(\mathcal{P}_{\perp}) \,s \,\delta\left(\frac{s}{Q} - \hat{\mathcal{T}}\right) \,\mathcal{B}_{n\perp,\omega}^{\mu a}(0) \left|0\right\rangle, \qquad (2.7)$$
$$S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) = \frac{1}{(N_c^2 - 1)} \mathrm{tr} \langle 0 | \mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}^T(0) \mathcal{Y}_n(0) \,k \,\,\delta(k - \hat{\mathcal{T}}) \mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}^T(0) \mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}(0) |0\rangle.$$

The subscript δ is meant to indicate that the measurement function that appears is the same as the leading power measurement. The mass dimension of both functions in eq. (2.7) is zero. Although this example may appear too trivial, it turns out to become quite interesting when we consider the RG evolution of these subleading power jet and soft functions, which we do next.

2.2 θ -jet and θ -soft functions and RG equations

The RG for the subleading power jet and soft functions in eq. (2.7) is easily deduced from the RG evolution of the leading power jet and soft functions. The leading power jet and soft functions satisfy the RG equations

$$\mu \frac{dS_g^{(0)}(k,\mu)}{d\mu} = \int dk' \,\gamma_g^S(k-k',\mu) \,S_g^{(0)}(k',\mu)\,, \tag{2.8}$$
$$\mu \frac{dJ_g^{(0)}(s,\mu)}{d\mu} = \int ds' \gamma_g^J(s-s',\mu) \,J_g^{(0)}(s',\mu)\,,$$

where the form of the anomalous dimensions to all orders in α_s is

$$\gamma_g^S(k,\mu) = 4\Gamma_{\rm cusp}^g[\alpha_s] \frac{1}{\mu} \left[\frac{\mu \,\theta(k)}{k} \right]_+ + \gamma_g^S[\alpha_s] \,\delta(k) \,, \tag{2.9}$$
$$\gamma_g^J(s,\mu) = -2\Gamma_{\rm cusp}^g[\alpha_s] \frac{1}{\mu^2} \left[\frac{\mu^2 \,\theta(s)}{s} \right]_+ + \gamma_g^J[\alpha_s] \,\delta(s) \,,$$

with $\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g}[\alpha_{s}]$ the gluon cusp anomalous dimension [66, 67].

We can now derive the all orders result for the RG evolution of the subleading power jet and soft functions. Multiplying the leading power soft function by k, we find for the

soft function

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} k S_g^{(0)}(k,\mu) = \int dk' \left((k-k') + k' \right) \gamma_g^S(k-k',\mu) S_g^{(0)}(k',\mu) , \qquad (2.10)$$

$$= \int dk' \left((k-k') + k' \right) \left\{ 4 \Gamma_{\rm cusp}^g[\alpha_s] \frac{1}{\mu} \left[\frac{\mu \, \theta(k-k')}{k-k'} \right]_+ \right.$$

$$+ \gamma_g^S[\alpha_s] \, \delta(k-k') \left\{ S_g^{(0)}(k',\mu) \right.$$

$$= \int dk' 4 \Gamma_{\rm cusp}^g[\alpha_s] \theta(k-k') S_g^{(0)}(k',\mu) + \int dk' \, \gamma_g^S(k-k',\mu) \, k' S_g^{(0)}(k',\mu) .$$

This implies

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) = 4\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g}[\alpha_{s}] \ S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) + \int dk' \ \gamma_{g}^{S}(k-k',\mu) \ S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(k',\mu) \ .$$
(2.11)

Here we have defined the new power suppressed soft function

$$S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) = \frac{1}{(N_c^2 - 1)} \operatorname{tr} \langle 0 | \mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}^T(0) \mathcal{Y}_n(0) \theta(k - \hat{\mathcal{T}}) \mathcal{Y}_n^T(0) \mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}(0) | 0 \rangle .$$
(2.12)

We refer to this as a θ -soft function. Its tree level value is $S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) = \theta(k) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$. This function receives its power suppression from its measurement function, $\theta(k - \hat{\mathcal{T}})$. In particular, $\theta(\tau) \sim \mathcal{O}(\tau^0)$, while $\delta(\tau) \sim \mathcal{O}(1/\tau)$.

Performing an identical exercise for the jet function, we obtain

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} J_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(s,\mu) = -2\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^g[\alpha_s] \ J_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(s,\mu) + \int ds' \ \gamma_g^J(s-s',\mu) \ J_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(s',\mu) \ . \tag{2.13}$$

Here we have defined the subleading power jet function

$$J_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(s,\mu) = \frac{(2\pi)^3}{(N_c^2 - 1)} \Big\langle 0 \Big| \,\mathcal{B}_{n\perp}^{\mu a}(0) \,\delta(Q + \bar{\mathcal{P}}) \delta^2(\mathcal{P}_{\perp}) \,\theta\left(\frac{s}{Q} - \hat{\mathcal{T}}\right) \,\mathcal{B}_{n\perp,\omega}^{\mu a}(0) \,\Big| 0 \Big\rangle \,, \tag{2.14}$$

which we will refer to as a θ -jet function. Its tree level value is $J_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(s,\mu) = \theta(s) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$. In [12] it was also found that additional subleading power jet functions whose tree level values were θ -functions were required due to the non-closure of the RG evolution, and it was conjectured that they took the form of eq. (2.14). Our illustrative example has allowed us to derive the necessity of such operators in a straightforward manner, and prove that here this new function suffices to all orders in α_s . More general constraints on the functions that can appear through mixing at subleading power will be derived from the consistency of the RG equations in section 2.3.

Interestingly, we see that the evolution equation for the power suppressed jet and soft functions are no longer homogeneous evolution equations. In particular, they mix into the θ -jet and θ -soft functions. This clearly shows that a new class of subleading power operators, namely the θ -jet and θ -soft operators, are required to renormalize consistently at subleading power in SCET. These operators do not appear at amplitude level, but instead arise from mixing at cross section level. It is clear that they have all the correct symmetry properties, as well as the correct power counting, and therefore it is not unexpected that they can be generated by RG evolution.

The renormalization group evolution of the θ -function operators can also be derived by integration of the leading power RG equation. Considering explicitly the soft function, we have

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) = \int dk' \theta(k-k') \int dk'' \gamma_g^S(k'-k'',\mu) S_g^{(0)}(k'',\mu)$$

$$= \int dk' \gamma_g^S(k-k',\mu) \int dk'' \theta(k'-k'') S_g^{(0)}(k'',\mu)$$

$$= \int dk' \gamma_g^S(k-k',\mu) S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(k',\mu) .$$
(2.15)

We therefore find that to all orders in α_s , the RG for the θ -jet and θ -soft operators is identical to that of the leading power jet and soft functions

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) = \int dk' \gamma_g^S(k-k') S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(k',\mu) , \qquad (2.16)$$

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} J_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(s,\mu) = \int ds' \gamma_g^J(s-s') J_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(s',\mu) .$$

Together eqs. (2.11) and (2.13) combined with eq. (2.16) give a simple, closed 2×2 matrix RG structure for the subleading power jet and soft functions

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \begin{pmatrix} J_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(s,\mu) \\ J_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(s,\mu) \end{pmatrix} = \int ds' \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{g,\delta\delta}^J(s-s') & \gamma_{g,\delta\theta}^J\delta(s-s') \\ 0 & \gamma_{g,\theta\theta}^J(s-s') \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} J_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(s',\mu) \\ J_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(s',\mu) \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.17)$$
$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \begin{pmatrix} S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) \\ S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) \end{pmatrix} = \int dk' \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{g,\delta\delta}^S(k-k',\mu) & \gamma_{g,\delta\theta}^S\delta(k-k') \\ 0 & \gamma_{g,\theta\theta}^S(k-k',\mu) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} S_{g,\tau\delta}^{(2)}(k',\mu) \\ S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(k',\mu) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Fourier transforming to position space

$$\tilde{J}_x^{(2)}(y) = \int ds \ e^{-isy} \ J_x^{(2)}(s) , \qquad \qquad \tilde{S}_x^{(2)}(z) = \int dk \ e^{-ikz} \ S_x^{(2)}(k) , \qquad (2.18)$$

(where here the mass dimensions are [y] = -2 and [z] = -1) these RG equations become multiplicative

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{J}_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(y,\mu) \\ \tilde{J}_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(y,\mu) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma}_{g,\delta\delta}^{J}(y,\mu) & \gamma_{g,\delta\theta}^{J}[\alpha_{s}] \\ 0 & \tilde{\gamma}_{g,\theta\theta}^{J}(y,\mu) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{J}_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(y,\mu) \\ \tilde{J}_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(y,\mu) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.19)$$

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{S}_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(z,\mu) \\ \tilde{S}_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(z,\mu) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma}_{g,\delta\delta}^{S}(z,\mu) & \gamma_{g,\delta\theta}^{S}[\alpha_{s}] \\ 0 & \tilde{\gamma}_{g,\theta\theta}^{S}(z,\mu) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{S}_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(z,\mu) \\ \tilde{S}_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(z,\mu) \end{pmatrix}.$$

For our illustrative example, the RG equations in eq. (2.17) or eq. (2.19) are valid to all orders in α_s , and we can identify that

$$\gamma^{S}_{g,\delta\delta}(k,\mu) = \gamma^{S}_{g,\theta\theta}(k,\mu) = \gamma^{S}_{g}(k,\mu), \qquad (2.20)$$

$$\gamma^{J}_{g,\delta\delta}(s,\mu) = \gamma^{J}_{g,\theta\theta}(s,\mu) = \gamma^{J}_{g}(s,\mu),$$

where $\gamma_g^S(k,\mu)$ and $\gamma_g^J(s,\mu)$ are the LP anomalous dimensions in eq. (2.9). They include the cusp anomalous dimensions, and hence drive double logarithmic evolution. On the other hand, in our illustrative example the off diagonal terms in eq. (2.17) are

$$\gamma_{g,\delta\theta}^{S} = 4\Gamma_{\rm cusp}^{g}[\alpha_{s}], \qquad (2.21)$$

$$\gamma_{g,\delta\theta}^{J} = -2\Gamma_{\rm cusp}^{g}[\alpha_{s}],$$

which generate single logarithmic terms.

The particular relations for the anomalous dimensions of eqs. (2.20) and (2.21), and in particular the fact that the mixing anomalous dimension is proportional to the cusp anomalous dimension, is a feature of this specific illustrative example, and will not in general be true. However, the general features of this example will be true at subleading power. In particular, subleading power jet and soft functions will exhibit single logarithmic mixing with θ -function operators, and diagonal anomalous dimensions corresponding to operator self mixing will give rise to double logarithmic evolution. In section 2.3 we will discuss more general constraints on the subleading power anomalous dimensions and the types of functions which can arise through mixing, from RG consistency constraints in SCET.

From this example we have shown how subleading power jet and soft functions involving θ -function measurement operators arise in a straightforward manner, we have derived their field structure to all orders in α_s , and we have shown that their RG closes in a 2 × 2 form. Before solving this subleading power RG equation, it is also useful to see how this mixing appears from the perspective of a fixed order calculation for the subleading power soft function. This will illustrate that this phenomenon of mixing is generic at subleading power, due to the fact that subleading power corrections first contribute with a real emission without virtual corrections, and is not simply a feature of the specific example considered here.

At lowest order, the power suppressed soft function vanishes

$$S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(k,\mu)\Big|_{\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^0)} = \underbrace{\mathcal{Y}_{\overline{n}}}_{\mathcal{Y}_{\overline{n}}} = k\delta(k) = 0.$$
(2.22)

With a single emission, we have

$$S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(k,\mu)\Big|_{\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)} = 2 \underbrace{\sum_{\mathcal{Y}_n}^{\mathcal{Y}_n} \sum_{\mathcal{Y}_n}^{\mathcal{Y}_n}}_{\mathcal{Y}_n} = 4g^2 \left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma_E}}{4\pi}\right)^{\epsilon} C_A \int \frac{d^d\ell}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{1}{\ell^+\ell^-} 2\pi\delta(\ell^2)\theta(\ell^0)k\delta(k-Q\hat{\tau}), \qquad (2.23)$$

where the measurement function on a single particle state is given by

$$k\delta(k - Q\hat{\tau}) = k\delta\left(k - \ell^{+}\right)\theta(\ell^{-} - \ell^{+}) + k\delta\left(k - \ell^{-}\right)\theta(\ell^{+} - \ell^{-})$$
$$= 2k\delta\left(k - \ell^{+}\right)\theta(\ell^{-} - \ell^{+}), \qquad (2.24)$$

using the $\ell^+ \leftrightarrow \ell^-$ symmetry of this particular integrand. Using the delta functions to perform the integrals of the l_{\perp} and l^+ , we find

$$S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) = \frac{8\alpha_s C_A k^{-\epsilon}}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)(4\pi)^{1-\epsilon}} \left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma_E}}{4\pi}\right)^{\epsilon} \int_k^{\infty} \frac{d\ell^-}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(\ell^-)^{1+\epsilon}} = \frac{8\alpha_s C_A e^{\epsilon\gamma_E}}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)(4\pi)} \left(\frac{\mu^2}{k^2}\right)^{\epsilon} \frac{1}{\epsilon}$$
$$= 8C_A \frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{4\pi} \theta(k) \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log\frac{\mu^2}{k^2} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)\right). \tag{2.25}$$

Here we clearly see that an SCET UV divergence from $\ell^- \to \infty$ appears at the first order at which this power suppressed soft function is non-vanishing.

Although we are considering a specific subleading power example, these two calculations illustrate a general phenomenon at subleading power: subleading power jet and soft functions vanish at lowest order since purely virtual corrections are leading power, scaling like $\delta(\tau)$, and they in general have a UV divergence in SCET at the first perturbative order at which they appear. Without the knowledge of the θ -soft and θ -jet operators, this behavior is confusing, since it is not clear what renormalizes this divergence. However, with an understanding of the presence of these θ -function operators, we can now straightforwardly interpret the fixed order calculation of the subleading power soft function in eq. (2.25) as operator mixing, and immediately read off the anomalous dimension from the $1/\epsilon$ pole in the standard way. The operator $S_{q,\theta}^{(2)}$ is non-zero at tree level, and simply gives

$$S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(k,\mu)\Big|_{\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^0)} = \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{Y}_n \\ \mathcal{Y}_n \end{array}}_{\mathcal{Y}_n} \underbrace{\left[\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{Y}_n \\ \mathcal{Y}_n \end{array}\right]}_{\mathcal{Y}_n} = \theta(k) \,.$$
(2.26)

The renormalization of this operator provides the needed counterterm, and from eq. (2.25) we find

$$\gamma_{g,\delta\theta}^S = 16 \frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi} C_A = 4 \frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi} \Gamma_{\rm cusp}^{g,0} \,, \tag{2.27}$$

where $\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0} = 4C_A$ is the one-loop gluon cusp anomalous dimension. This result is in agreement with our derivation from the known structure of the RG equations in eq. (2.11). This example clearly resolves any confusion arising in the renormalization of the subleading power operators, which with the addition of subleading power θ -jet and θ -soft functions becomes a standard operator mixing problem.

2.3 Renormalization group consistency

Motivated by the structure of the RG equations in our illustrative example, we consider a somewhat more general factorization theorem where the soft and jet sectors have an analogous 2×2 mixing structure with some unknown functions that do not appear in the matching, without working under the assumption that these functions take the form of the θ -jet or θ -soft functions of the previous section. The fact that the cross section is μ -independent implies RG consistency equations in SCET that yield relations between the anomalous dimensions of hard, jet, and soft functions, and will allow us to prove on general grounds that the functions appearing through mixing at subleading power must be integrals of the leading power functions in the factorization theorem. This shows that the θ -jet or θ -soft functions appear much more generally than in our illustrative example. It will also allow us to demonstrate that there will always be at least pairs of subleading power θ -soft and θ -collinear functions.

We consider terms in a subleading power factorization theorem where the power corrections occur in either a jet or soft function with the form

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{d\sigma^{(2)}}{d\tau} = 2H_1(Q,\mu) \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q^2} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} J_{\delta}^{(2)}(s_n,\mu) J^{(0)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) S^{(0)}(k,\mu)$$

$$+ H_2(Q,\mu) \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} J^{(0)}(s_n,\mu) J^{(0)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) S_{\delta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) ,$$
(2.28)

where we have used the $n \leftrightarrow \bar{n}$ symmetry to write corrections to the two jet functions into a single expression. Here $H_1 = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ and $H_2 = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ are taken to be dimensionless hard functions. We will assume that these H_i do not mix, so $\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} H_i(Q,\mu) =$ $\gamma_{H_i}(Q,\mu)H_i(Q,\mu)$. We will also assume that $J_{\delta}^{(2)}$ and $S_{\delta}^{(2)}$ start at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$, and obey 2×2 mixing equations of the form in eq. (2.17) which has them mix with operators starting at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^0)$. Importantly, here we do not assume that $J_{\delta}^{(2)}$ and $S_{\delta}^{(2)}$ are related to the functions defined in eq. (2.7). We also assume that the terms in eq. (2.28) close in the renormalization group flow (at least up to some order in the N^kLL expansion, though we will shortly focus on LL order). From eq. (2.3) we see that the expression for the cross section in our illustrative example satisfies all the above assumptions and is a special case of the assumed form. With the above assumptions, our goal is to derive RG consistency equations by demanding the RG invariance of this cross section, $\mu d/d\mu \, d\sigma^{(2)}/d\tau = 0$.

For the analysis of RG consistency it is most convenient to Fourier transform τ to position space, so that eq. (2.28) becomes

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}y} \equiv \int d\tau \, e^{-i\tau y} \frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau}$$

$$= \frac{2}{Q^2} H_1(Q,\mu) \tilde{J}^{(2)}_{\delta} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu\right) \tilde{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu\right) \tilde{S}^{(0)}_{\delta} \left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu\right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{Q} H_2(Q,\mu) \tilde{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu\right) \tilde{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu\right) \tilde{S}^{(2)}_{\delta} \left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu\right).$$
(2.29)

Here y is dimensionless and the Fourier transforms of jet and soft functions are defined as in eq. (2.18). Differentiating each of the terms in eq. (2.29) and using eq. (2.8) and the analog of eq. (2.19) gives terms involving anomalous dimensions times the same functions back again, plus the terms involving mixing into additional functions. For notational convenience we will refer to these as θ -jet and θ -soft functions, although we will not assume that they take the functional form of the illustrative example result in eqs. (2.12) and (2.14). We therefore arrive at the following consistency equation (here for brevity we suppress the μ arguments in all functions and anomalous dimensions),

$$0 = \mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \left[\frac{d\sigma^{(2)}}{dy} \right]$$

$$= \frac{2}{Q^2} \left[\gamma_{H_1}(Q) + \tilde{\gamma}^J_{\delta\delta} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2} \right) + \tilde{\gamma}_{J^{(0)}} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2} \right) + \tilde{\gamma}_{S^{(0)}} \left(\frac{y}{Q} \right) \right]$$

$$\times H_1(Q) \tilde{J}^{(2)}_{\delta} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2} \right) \tilde{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2} \right) \tilde{S}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{2}{Q^2} \gamma^J_{\delta\theta} [\alpha_s] H_1(Q) \tilde{J}^{(2)}_{\theta} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2} \right) \tilde{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2} \right) \tilde{S}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{Q} \left[\gamma_{H_2}(Q) + 2 \tilde{\gamma}_{J^{(0)}} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2} \right) + \tilde{\gamma}^S_{\delta\delta} \left(\frac{y}{Q} \right) \right] H_2(Q) \tilde{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2} \right) \tilde{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2} \right) \tilde{S}^{(2)}_{\delta} \left(\frac{y}{Q} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{Q} \gamma^S_{\delta\theta} [\alpha_s] H_2(Q) \tilde{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2} \right) \tilde{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2} \right) \tilde{S}^{(2)}_{\theta} \left(\frac{y}{Q} \right) .$$
(2.30)

Using the relation between anomalous dimensions that follows from the leading power consistency relation, $\gamma_{H^{(0)}}(Q) + 2\tilde{\gamma}_{J^{(0)}}(y/Q^2) + \tilde{\gamma}_{S^{(0)}}(y/Q) = 0$, dividing by $\left[\tilde{J}^{(0)}\left(\frac{y}{Q^2}\right)\right]^2 \tilde{S}^{(0)}\left(\frac{y}{Q}\right)$, and multiplying by iy simplifies this result to

$$0 = 2H_{1}(Q) \left[\gamma_{H_{1}}(Q) - \gamma_{H^{(0)}}(Q) + \tilde{\gamma}_{\delta\delta}^{J} \left(\frac{y}{Q^{2}} \right) - \tilde{\gamma}_{J^{(0)}} \left(\frac{y}{Q^{2}} \right) \right] \left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q^{2}} \tilde{J}_{\delta}^{(2)}(\frac{y}{Q^{2}})}{\tilde{J}^{(0)}(\frac{y}{Q^{2}})} \right] + H_{2}(Q) \left[\gamma_{H_{2}}(Q) - \gamma_{H^{(0)}}(Q) + \gamma_{\delta\delta}^{S} \left(\frac{y}{Q} \right) - \tilde{\gamma}_{S^{(0)}} \left(\frac{y}{Q} \right) \right] \left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q} \tilde{S}_{\delta}^{(2)}(\frac{y}{Q})}{\tilde{S}^{(0)}(\frac{y}{Q})} \right] + 2H_{1}(Q) \gamma_{\delta\theta}^{J} [\alpha_{s}] \left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q^{2}} \tilde{J}_{\theta}^{(2)}(\frac{y}{Q^{2}})}{\tilde{J}^{(0)}(\frac{y}{Q^{2}})} \right] + H_{2}(Q) \gamma_{\delta\theta}^{S} [\alpha_{s}] \left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q} \tilde{S}_{\theta}^{(2)}(\frac{y}{Q})}{\tilde{S}^{(0)}(\frac{y}{Q})} \right].$$
(2.31)

This consistency equation is quite non-trivial since it involves separate functions of each of $Q, y/Q^2$, and y/Q. Specializing to LL order we include only the logarithmic terms from the anomalous dimensions in the first two lines, and only the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ terms for the anomalous dimensions in the last line. This gives

$$0 = \left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q^2}\tilde{J}_{\delta}^{(2)}(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu)}{\frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{4\pi}\tilde{J}^{(0)}(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu)}\right]^{\mathrm{LL}} \frac{\alpha_s^2(\mu)}{(4\pi)^2} \left\{ 2\left(\Gamma_{H_1}^0 - \Gamma_{H^{(0)}}^0\right)\log\frac{\mu^2}{Q^2} + 2\left(\Gamma_{\delta\delta}^{J0} - \Gamma_{J^{(0)}}^0\right)\log\frac{iy\mu^2}{Q^2} \right\} \\ + \left[\frac{H_2(Q,\mu)}{H_1(Q,\mu)}\right]^{\mathrm{LL}} \left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q}\tilde{S}_{\delta}^{(2)}(\frac{y}{Q},\mu)}{\frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{4\pi}\tilde{S}^{(0)}(\frac{y}{Q},\mu)}\right]^{\mathrm{LL}} \frac{\alpha_s^2(\mu)}{(4\pi)^2} \\ \times \left\{ \left(\Gamma_{H_2}^0 - \Gamma_{H^{(0)}}^0\right)\log\frac{\mu^2}{Q^2} + \left(\Gamma_{\delta\delta}^{S0} - \Gamma_{S^{(0)}}^0\right)\log\frac{iy\mu}{Q} \right\} \\ + \left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q^2}\tilde{J}_{\theta}^{(2)}(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu)}{\tilde{J}^{(0)}(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu)}\right]^{\mathrm{LL}} 2\frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{4\pi}\gamma_{\delta\theta}^{J0} + \left[\frac{H_2(Q,\mu)}{H_1(Q,\mu)}\right]^{\mathrm{LL}} \left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q}\tilde{S}_{\theta}^{(2)}(\frac{y}{Q},\mu)}{\tilde{S}^{(0)}(\frac{y}{Q},\mu)}\right]^{\mathrm{LL}} \frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{4\pi}\gamma_{\delta\theta}^{S0} ,$$

$$(2.32)$$

where we have restored the μ arguments. The 0 superscripts on the anomalous dimensions here indicate that these are the lowest order term in these anomalous dimensions (which are simple numbers). In the first two lines we have included a $1/\alpha_s(\mu)$ since $\tilde{J}_{\delta}^{(2)}$ and $\tilde{S}_{\delta}^{(2)}$ themselves start at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$. This way all terms in square brackets in eq. (2.32) start at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^0)$. Since μ is arbitrary, all ratios of hard, jet, and soft functions in square brackets in eq. (2.32) can each be thought of as a LL series, $[\cdots]^{\text{LL}} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k [\alpha_s(\mu) \log^2(X)]^k$, where $X = \mu^2/Q^2$, $X = y\mu^2/Q^2$, or $X = y\mu/Q$ for ratios of hard, jet, or soft functions respectively (or the analogs with running coupling effects which does not change the arguments below). The coefficients a_k in these series are numbers that depend on powers of the corresponding anomalous dimensions for the objects in that square bracket.

To see what eq. (2.32) implies, first consider the ratio of jet functions in the first line. In the case of our illustrative example from section 2.1 we have $\tilde{J}_{\delta}^{(2)}/J^{(0)} \propto d/d(y/Q^2) \log \tilde{J}^{(0)}$, so it is safe to assume that this ratio of jet functions is a non-trivial function of y/Q^2 . The first line of eq. (2.32) can then not cancel against the terms in the second line since they have different functional dependence on y and μ/Q . Nor can it cancel against the terms on the third line, since they start at different orders in α_s . This implies that the curly bracket on the first line of eq. (2.32) vanishes. Due to the presence of two independent types of logarithms in this bracket this immediately implies relations between the cusp anomalous dimension coefficients for these functions at LL order:

$$\Gamma^{0}_{H_{1}} = \Gamma_{H^{(0)}} , \qquad \qquad \Gamma^{J0}_{\delta\delta} = \Gamma_{J^{(0)}} . \qquad (2.33)$$

For the same reason the curly bracket on the second line of eq. (2.32) must also vanish, which then implies the following LL anomalous dimension relations:

$$\Gamma^0_{H_2} = \Gamma_{H^{(0)}} , \qquad \qquad \Gamma^{S0}_{\delta\delta} = \Gamma_{S^{(0)}} . \qquad (2.34)$$

Together these imply that $\Gamma_{H_1}^0 = \Gamma_{H_2}^0$, which gives $[H_2(Q,\mu)/H_1(Q,\mu)]^{\text{LL}} = 1$.

In eq. (2.32) this then leaves only the LL mixing terms, where the remaining constraint now takes the form

$$0 = \left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q^2}\tilde{J}_{\theta}^{(2)}(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu)}{\tilde{J}^{(0)}(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu)}\right]^{\mathrm{LL}} 2\gamma_{\delta\theta}^{J0} + \left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q}\tilde{S}_{\theta}^{(2)}(\frac{y}{Q},\mu)}{\tilde{S}^{(0)}(\frac{y}{Q},\mu)}\right]^{\mathrm{LL}}\gamma_{\delta\theta}^{S0}.$$
(2.35)

In our illustrative example the two square brackets here are both equal to 1. The RG consistency implies that this is actually a much more general result, true for any operators satisfying the assumptions set out at the beginning of this section. In particular, since the two square brackets have different functional dependence, y/Q^2 and y/Q respectively, they must both be independent of these variables. This gives:²

$$\left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q^2}\,\tilde{J}_{\theta}^{(2)}\!\left(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu\right)}{\tilde{J}^{(0)}\!\left(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu\right)}\right]^{\rm LL} = 1\,,\qquad\qquad \left[\frac{\frac{iy}{Q}\,\tilde{S}_{\theta}^{(2)}\!\left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu\right)}{\tilde{S}^{(0)}\!\left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu\right)}\right]^{\rm LL} = 1\,.\tag{2.36}$$

²More generally the r.h.s. of the results in eq. (2.36) could be constants, but we choose to normalize $\tilde{J}_{\theta}^{(2)}$ and $\tilde{S}_{\theta}^{(2)}$ so these constants are both 1.

This then leaves a simple relation between the mixing anomalous dimensions

$$2\gamma_{\delta\theta}^{J0} + \gamma_{\delta\theta}^{S0} = 0, \qquad (2.37)$$

which we also found in our illustrative example. In momentum space eq. (2.36) implies that

$$J_{\theta}^{(2)}(s,\mu)^{\rm LL} = \int_0^s ds' \, J^{(0)}(s',\mu)^{\rm LL} \,, \qquad S_{\theta}^{(2)}(k,\mu)^{\rm LL} = \int_0^k dk' \, S^{(0)}(k',\mu)^{\rm LL} \,. \tag{2.38}$$

While true in our illustrative example, viewed as a more general constraint this result is quite interesting. For more general operators defining $J_{\delta}^{(2)}$ and $S_{\delta}^{(2)}$ it might not be a priori clear (without performing higher order loop and gluon emission calculations) how to define the operators giving the $J_{\theta}^{(2)}$ and $S_{\theta}^{(2)}$ that one mixes into. The RG consistency result in eq. (2.38) implies that the required $J_{\theta}^{(2)}$ and $S_{\theta}^{(2)}$ functions agree with those defined from the cumulative of the leading power operators, at least at LL order. The RG consistency results in eqs. (2.33) and (2.34) furthermore imply that the LL cusp anomalous dimensions of $J_{\delta}^{(2)}$ and $S_{\theta}^{(2)}$ are the same as those for the jet and soft functions at leading power. Note that although $\gamma_{\theta\theta}^{J}$ or $\gamma_{\theta\theta}^{S}$ do not appear explicitly in the RG consistency equation, they are present in the LL expressions for $\tilde{J}_{\theta}^{(2)}$ and $\tilde{S}_{\theta}^{(2)}$ and hence are constrained by eq. (2.36).

This example also illustrates another important point. There must always be (at least) a pair of functions at subleading power whose renormalization group evolution is tied by consistency. This is also clear from the fact that when evaluated at their natural scales, the subleading power $J_{\delta}^{(2)}$ and $S_{\delta}^{(2)}$ functions are $0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$, and not $\delta(\tau) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ as at leading power. Thus if one chooses to run all functions to the canonical scale of either of the subleading power functions, this function will simply not contribute at LL accuracy. To see this explicitly, we can use the evolution equations to run all functions in the position space factorization theorem from their canonical scales $\mu_H^2 \sim Q^2$, $\mu_J^2 \sim Q^2/iy$, or $\mu_S^2 \sim Q^2/(iy)^2$ to a common scale μ^2 . This gives

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_{0}} \frac{d\sigma^{(2)}}{dy} = \frac{2}{Q^{2}} H_{1}(Q,\mu_{H}) U_{H_{1}}(Q,\mu_{H},\mu) U_{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^{2}},\mu_{J},\mu\right) \tilde{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^{2}},\mu_{J}\right) U_{S}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu_{S},\mu\right) \\
\times \tilde{S}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu_{S}\right) \left[U_{\delta\delta}^{J} \left(\frac{y}{Q^{2}},\mu_{J},\mu\right) \tilde{J}^{(2)}_{\delta} \left(\frac{y}{Q^{2}},\mu_{J}\right) \\
+ U_{\delta\theta}^{J} \left(\frac{y}{Q^{2}},\mu_{J},\mu\right) \tilde{J}^{(2)}_{\theta} \left(\frac{y}{Q^{2}},\mu_{J}\right) \right] \\
+ \frac{1}{Q} H_{2}(Q,\mu) U_{H_{2}}(Q,\mu_{H},\mu) \left[U_{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^{2}},\mu_{J},\mu\right) \tilde{J}^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^{2}},\mu_{J}\right) \right]^{2} (2.39) \\
\times \left[U_{\delta\delta}^{S} \left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu_{S},\mu\right) \tilde{S}^{(2)}_{\delta} \left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu_{S}\right) + U_{\delta\theta}^{S} \left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu_{S},\mu\right) \tilde{S}^{(2)}_{\theta} \left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu_{S}\right) \right].$$

Here the U_H , U_S and U_J factors are evolution kernels for the various hard, jet, and soft functions. For our analysis of $H \to gg$ in pure glue QCD their explicit form will be given later in the text. At LL order we can then use that

$$\tilde{J}_{\delta}^{(2)}(y/Q^2,\mu_J) = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s), \qquad \qquad \tilde{S}_{\delta}^{(2)}(y/Q,\mu_S) = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s), \qquad (2.40)$$

which implies that the terms with the $U_{\delta\delta}^J$ and $U_{\delta\delta}^S$ kernels are not needed at this order. We can also simplify the LL result by using $\tilde{S}^{(0)} = 1$ and $\tilde{J}^{(0)} = 1$ (we allow here a nontrivial overall numeric factor from H_1 and H_2 at tree level). The LL resummed result then simplifies to

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{d\sigma^{(2)\,\text{LL}}}{dy} = \frac{2H_1}{Q^2} U_{H_1}(Q,\mu_H,\mu) U_J^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu_J,\mu\right) U_S^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu_S,\mu\right) \\
\times U_{\delta\theta}^J \left(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu_J,\mu\right) \tilde{J}_{\theta}^{(2)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu_J\right) \\
+ \frac{H_2}{Q} U_{H_2}(Q,\mu_H,\mu) \left[U_J^{(0)} \left(\frac{y}{Q^2},\mu_J,\mu\right) \right]^2 U_{\delta\theta}^S \left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu_S,\mu\right) \tilde{S}_{\theta}^{(2)} \left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu_S\right). \tag{2.41}$$

Finally we can use the RG consistency freedom that says the same result is obtained no matter what value we pick for μ . For example, taking $\mu = \mu_J$ we have $U^J_{\delta\theta}(y/Q^2, \mu_J, \mu_J) = 0$ which removes the first term, and $U^{(0)}_J(y/Q^2, \mu_J, \mu_J) = 1$ which simplifies the second, leaving

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{(2)\,\mathrm{LL}}}{\mathrm{d}y} = \frac{H_2}{Q} U_{H_2}(Q,\mu_H,\mu_J) U^S_{\delta\theta}\left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu_S,\mu_J\right) \tilde{S}^{(2)}_{\theta}\left(\frac{y}{Q},\mu_S\right).$$
(2.42)

In this form the LL resummed result is obtained completely from the subleading power soft function. If instead we had chosen $\mu = \mu_S$, then $U_{\delta\theta}^S(y/Q, \mu_S, \mu_S) = 0$ would have removed the second term in eq. (2.41), and the result would have been expressed entirely from the first term that involves the subleading power jet functions, which can be simplified using $U_S^{(0)}(y/Q, \mu_S, \mu_S) = 1$. This equivalence between different resummed formula is an expression of the LL consistency result in eq. (2.37) at the level of the cross section. We will use eq. (2.42) to simplify the resummation for thrust at next-to-leading power in section 4.

3 Solution to the subleading power RG mixing equation

Having illustrated that the renormalization of subleading power jet and soft functions generically involves mixing with θ -jet and θ -soft operators, in this section we solve a general form of the subleading power RG equations involving mixing, including the running coupling $\alpha_s(\mu)$. This solution will be sufficient for all cases required in this paper, and we believe that it will be of general utility for subleading power resummation.

We consider a function, F, which obeys an RG equation of the form of eq. (2.17). To remove the convolution structure, we work in Fourier (or Laplace) space, with a variable yconjugate to a momentum variable k of dimension p. Defining

$$\tilde{F}(y) = \int dk \ e^{-iky} \ F(k), \qquad (3.1)$$

the RG equation for \tilde{F} is then multiplicative

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{F}_{\delta}^{(2)}(y,\mu) \\ \tilde{F}_{\theta}^{(2)}(y,\mu) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma}_{11}(y,\mu) & \gamma_{12}[\alpha_s] \\ 0 & \tilde{\gamma}_{22}(y,\mu) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{F}_{\delta}^{(2)}(y,\mu) \\ \tilde{F}_{\theta}^{(2)}(y,\mu) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.2)

Here, to simplify notation, we have defined

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{11}(y,\mu) = \Gamma_{11}[\alpha_s] \log(ie^{\gamma_E}(y-i0)\mu^p) + \gamma_{11}[\alpha_s], \qquad (3.3)$$
$$\tilde{\gamma}_{22}(y,\mu) = \Gamma_{22}[\alpha_s] \log(ie^{\gamma_E}(y-i0)\mu^p) + \gamma_{22}[\alpha_s].$$

To shorten the equations, we will not explicitly write the branch cut prescription in the following. The off-diagonal mixing term, $\gamma_{12}[\alpha_s]$, does not contain logarithms.

3.1 General solution

We will solve the subleading power mixing equation without the constraint that $\tilde{\gamma}_{11} = \tilde{\gamma}_{22}$, as occurred in the example of section 2.2. We do this both because we believe that this solution will be relevant for the renormalization of more general functions at subleading power, as well as to illustrate how the standard leading power Sudakov exponential arises as a special limit when $\tilde{\gamma}_{11} = \tilde{\gamma}_{22}$, but not more generally.

We can write the all orders solution to the differential equation of eq. (3.2) as

$$\tilde{F}_{\delta}^{(2)}(y,\mu) = U_{\delta\delta}(y,\mu,\mu_0) \,\tilde{F}_{\delta}^{(2)}(y,\mu_0) + U_{\delta\theta}(y,\mu,\mu_0) \,\tilde{F}_{\theta}^{(2)}(y,\mu_0) \,, \tag{3.4}$$

with

$$U_{\delta\delta}(y,\mu,\mu_0) = \exp\left[\int_{\mu_0}^{\mu} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu'}{\mu'} \,\tilde{\gamma}_{11}(y,\mu')\right], \quad U_{\delta\theta}(y,\mu,\mu_0) = U_{\delta\delta}(y,\mu,\mu_0) X(y,\mu,\mu_0) \,, \quad (3.5)$$

where X satisfies

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} X(y,\mu,\mu_0) = e^{-\int_{\mu_0}^{\mu} \frac{d\mu'}{\mu'} \tilde{\gamma}_{11}(y,\mu')} \gamma_{12}[\alpha_s(\mu)] e^{-\int_{\mu_0}^{\mu} \frac{d\mu'}{\mu'} \tilde{\gamma}_{22}(y,\mu')}, \qquad (3.6)$$

and the boundary condition $X(y, \mu_0, \mu_0) = 0$. Solving for X, we have

$$X(y,\mu,\mu_0) = \int_{\mu_0}^{\mu} \frac{d\mu''}{\mu''} e^{-\int_{\mu_0}^{\mu''} \frac{d\mu'}{\mu'} \tilde{\gamma}_{11}(y,\mu')} \gamma_{12}[\alpha_s(\mu'')] e^{-\int_{\mu_0}^{\mu''} \frac{d\mu'}{\mu'} \tilde{\gamma}_{22}(y,\mu')}$$

$$= \int_{\mu_0}^{\mu} \frac{d\mu''}{\mu''} \gamma_{12}[\alpha_s(\mu'')] \exp\left(-\int_{\mu_0}^{\mu''} \frac{d\mu'}{\mu'} [\tilde{\gamma}_{11}(y,\mu') - \tilde{\gamma}_{22}(y,\mu')]\right).$$
(3.7)

We can derive a closed analytic form for X order by order in the anomalous dimensions, including the running coupling. For the remainder of this section we consider the solution at LL order, where the anomalous dimensions take the form

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{ii}(y,\mu) = \Gamma_{ii}^0 \frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{4\pi} \log\left(\frac{\mu^p}{\mu_y^p}\right), \qquad \gamma_{12}[\alpha_s] = \gamma_{12}^0 \frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{4\pi}, \qquad (3.8)$$

where Γ_{11}^0 , Γ_{22}^0 , γ_{12}^0 are numbers, and we have defined the mass dimension 1 variable μ_y by

$$\frac{1}{\mu_y^p} \equiv e^{\gamma_E} i(y - i0) \,. \tag{3.9}$$

Note that at LL order we need only the logarithmic term for the diagonal anomalous dimensions $\tilde{\gamma}_{11}(y,\mu)$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_{22}(y,\mu)$. The non-logarithmic term is needed for the off-diagonal

term $\gamma_{12}[\alpha_s]$ because of the fact that the boundary terms in eq. (3.4) start at different orders, $\tilde{F}_{\delta}^{(2)}(y,\mu_0) \sim \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ and $\tilde{F}_{\theta}^{(2)}(y,\mu_0) \sim \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^0)$. To include the effects of running coupling, we use the standard approach of switching

to an integration in α_s instead of μ through the change of variables

$$\frac{d\mu}{\mu} = \frac{d\alpha_s}{\beta[\alpha_s]} \,. \tag{3.10}$$

At LL-order, we can use the LL β function which gives

$$\frac{d\mu}{\mu} = -\frac{2\pi}{\beta_0} \frac{d\alpha_s}{\alpha_s^2}, \qquad \beta_0 = \frac{11}{3} C_A - \frac{4}{3} T_F n_f, \qquad (3.11)$$

We also rewrite the logarithm appearing in the anomalous dimension as

$$\log\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_y}\right) = -\frac{2\pi}{\beta_0} \int_{\alpha_s(\mu_y)}^{\alpha_s(\mu)} \frac{\mathrm{d}\alpha'_s}{(\alpha'_s)^2} = \frac{2\pi}{\beta_0} \left(\frac{1}{\alpha_s(\mu)} - \frac{1}{\alpha_s(\mu_y)}\right) = \frac{2\pi}{\beta_0 \alpha_s(\mu_y)} \left(\frac{\alpha_s(\mu_y)}{\alpha_s(\mu)} - 1\right). \tag{3.12}$$

We then have

$$U_{\delta\delta}(y,\mu,\mu_0) = \exp\left\{ \Gamma_{11}^0 \int_{\mu_0}^{\mu} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu'}{\mu'} \left(\frac{\alpha_s(\mu')}{4\pi}\right) \log\left(\frac{\mu'^p}{\mu^p_y}\right) \right\}$$
(3.13)

$$= \exp\left[\frac{p\pi\Gamma_{11}^0}{\beta_0^2\alpha_s(\mu_0)}\left(\frac{1}{r} - 1 + \log r\right)\right] \left(\frac{\mu_y^p}{\mu_0^p}\right)^{\frac{\Gamma_{11}^0}{2\beta_0}\log(r)},$$

where

$$r \equiv \frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{\alpha_s(\mu_0)}, \qquad (3.14)$$

and at this order we take the boundary conditions

$$\tilde{F}_{\delta}^{(2)}(y,\mu_0) = 0, \qquad \tilde{F}_{\theta}^{(2)}(y,\mu_0) = \frac{1}{i(y-i0)}.$$
(3.15)

Recall that 1/i(y-i0) is the Fourier transform of $\theta(k)$. Thus at LL the solution becomes

$$\tilde{F}_{\delta}^{(2)\text{LL}}(y,\mu) = U_{\delta\theta}(y,\mu,\mu_0) \frac{1}{i(y-i0)}, \qquad (3.16)$$

with the evolution kernel given by

$$U_{\delta\theta}^{\rm LL}(y,\mu,\mu_0) = \exp\left[\frac{p\pi\Gamma_{11}^0}{\beta_0^2\alpha_s(\mu_0)}\left(\frac{1}{r} - 1 + \log r\right)\right] \left(\frac{\mu_y^p}{\mu_0^p}\right)^{\frac{\Gamma_{11}^0}{2\beta_0}\log(r)} X^{\rm LL}(y,\mu,\mu_0)\,.$$
 (3.17)

Using eqs. (3.11) and (3.12) we can compute $X(y, \mu, \mu_0)$ in terms of the running coupling as

$$X(y,\mu,\mu_{0}) = -\frac{\gamma_{12}^{0}}{2\beta_{0}} \int_{\alpha_{s}(\mu_{0})}^{\alpha_{s}(\mu)} \frac{d\alpha'_{s}}{\alpha'_{s}} \exp\left\{\frac{p\pi}{\beta_{0}^{2}} \left(\Gamma_{11}^{0} - \Gamma_{22}^{0}\right) \int_{\alpha_{s}(\mu_{0})}^{\alpha'_{s}} \frac{d\alpha''_{s}}{\alpha''_{s}} \left(\frac{1}{\alpha''_{s}} - \frac{1}{\alpha_{s}(\mu_{y})}\right)\right\}$$
$$= -\frac{\gamma_{12}^{0}}{2\beta_{0}} \int_{\alpha_{s}(\mu_{0})}^{\alpha_{s}(\mu)} \frac{d\alpha'_{s}}{\alpha'_{s}} \exp\left\{\frac{p\pi}{\beta_{0}^{2}} \left(\Gamma_{11}^{0} - \Gamma_{22}^{0}\right) \left[\frac{1}{\alpha_{s}(\mu_{0})} - \frac{1}{\alpha'_{s}} - \frac{1}{\alpha_{s}(\mu_{y})} \log \frac{\alpha'_{s}}{\alpha_{s}(\mu_{0})}\right]\right\}$$
$$= -\frac{\gamma_{12}^{0}}{2\beta_{0}} \int_{\phi(\mu)}^{\phi(\mu_{0})} \frac{d\phi'}{\phi'} \exp\left\{\phi(\mu_{0}) - \phi' - \phi(\mu_{y}) \log \frac{\phi(\mu_{0})}{\phi'}\right\},$$
(3.18)

where in the last line we used the definition

$$\phi(\mu) \equiv \frac{p\pi(\Gamma_{11}^0 - \Gamma_{22}^0)}{\beta_0^2 \,\alpha_s(\mu)} \,. \tag{3.19}$$

The final integral gives the LL solution

$$X^{\rm LL}(y,\mu,\mu_0) = -\frac{\gamma_{12}^0}{2\beta_0} e^{\phi(\mu_0)} \left[r^{-\phi(\mu_y)} E\left(1 - \phi(\mu_y), \phi(\mu)\right) - E\left(1 - \phi(\mu_y), \phi(\mu_0)\right) \right], \quad (3.20)$$

where E(n, z) is the exponential integral function

$$E(n,z) = \int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t^{n}} e^{-zt}.$$
 (3.21)

Plugging these results into eq. (3.4) we obtain the general solution to the subleading RG at LL order in terms of the results in eqs. (3.13) and (3.20):

$$\tilde{F}_{\delta}^{(2)}(y,\mu)^{\rm LL} = U_{\delta\delta}^{\rm LL}(y,\mu,\mu_0) \, X^{\rm LL}(y,\mu,\mu_0) \, \frac{1}{i(y-i0)} \,. \tag{3.22}$$

For illustration we can take the limit without the running coupling, set $\mu_0 = \mu_y$, and assume³ $\Gamma_{11}^0 > \Gamma_{22}^0$ which gives

$$U_{\delta\theta}^{LL}(y,\mu,\mu_y)\Big|_{\alpha_s(\mu)=\alpha_s} = \gamma_{12}^0 \,\frac{\alpha_s}{8\pi} \,\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\Delta_{\Gamma}}} \,\mathrm{Erf}\left[\sqrt{\Delta_{\Gamma}} \,\log\frac{\mu}{\mu_y}\right] \,\exp\left[p\,\Gamma_{11}^0 \,\frac{\alpha_s}{8\pi} \,\log^2\frac{\mu}{\mu_y}\right], \quad (3.23)$$

where $\Delta_{\Gamma} \equiv \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{8\pi}\right) p\left(\Gamma_{11}^0 - \Gamma_{22}^0\right)$ and Erf is the error function, $\operatorname{Erf}(x) = (2/\sqrt{\pi}) \int_0^x e^{-t^2} dt$ which expanded around x = 0 reads $\operatorname{Erf}(x) = 2x/\sqrt{\pi} - 2x^3/(3\sqrt{\pi}) + \mathcal{O}(x^5)$. The kernel in eq. (3.23) is easily interpreted as the standard Sudakov factor with fixed coupling multiplied by the error function arising from the integral over the difference of Sudakov exponentials in eq. (3.7). The solutions in eqs. (3.17) and (3.23) emphasize that there is a closed form solution in terms of elementary functions, and that in the most general case we will not necessarily get a simple Sudakov exponential at subleading power. We also emphasize that in all the LL results γ_{12}^0 appears only as an overall factor.

3.2 Solution with equal diagonal entries

To gain further insight into the form of the LL solution to the subleading power RG it is instructive to restrict our attention to the case $\Gamma_{11}^0 = \Gamma_{22}^0$ which is the relevant one for the subleading soft and jet functions considered in section 2. With $\Gamma_{11}^0 = \Gamma_{22}^0$, we have $\phi = 0$ so that X simplifies to

$$X^{\mathrm{LL}}(y,\mu,\mu_0)\big|_{\Gamma^0_{11}=\Gamma^0_{22}} = -\frac{\gamma^0_{12}}{2\beta_0} \int_{\alpha_s(\mu_0)}^{\alpha_s(\mu)} \frac{\mathrm{d}\alpha'_s}{\alpha'_s} = -\frac{\gamma^0_{12}}{2\beta_0} \log r \,, \tag{3.24}$$

³Note that we made no assumption on the signs of the Γ_{11}^0 and Γ_{22}^0 which can be negative. If $\Gamma_{11}^0 < \Gamma_{22}^0$, the result involves an imaginary error function (Erfi) instead of the error function (Erf).

where r was defined in eq. (3.14) and the evolution kernel simplifies to

$$U_{\delta\theta}^{\rm LL}(y,\mu,\mu_0)\big|_{\Gamma_{11}^0=\Gamma_{22}^0} = -\frac{\gamma_{12}^0}{2\beta_0}\log r\,\exp\left[\frac{p\pi\Gamma_{11}^0}{\beta_0^2\alpha_s(\mu_0)}\left(\frac{1}{r}-1+\log r\right)\right]\left(\frac{\mu_y^p}{\mu_0^p}\right)^{\frac{\Gamma_{11}'}{2\beta_0}\log(r)}.$$
(3.25)

Therefore with $\Gamma_{11}^0 = \Gamma_{22}^0$ we recover a simple Sudakov evolution at LL. For this case the final expression for the LL resummed function in position space is

$$\tilde{F}_{\delta}^{(2)\text{LL}}(y,\mu) = -\frac{\gamma_{12}^{0}}{2\beta_{0}}\log r \exp\left[\frac{p\pi\Gamma_{11}^{0}}{\beta_{0}^{2}\alpha_{s}(\mu_{0})}\left(\frac{1}{r}-1+\log r\right)\right]\left(\frac{\mu_{y}^{p}}{\mu_{0}^{p}}\right)^{\frac{\Gamma_{11}^{0}}{2\beta_{0}}\log(r)}\frac{1}{i(y-i0)}.$$
(3.26)

To obtain the expression for $F_{\delta}^{(2)LL}(k,\mu)$ we transform eq. (3.26) back to momentum space which gives

$$F_{\delta}^{(2)\mathrm{LL}}(k,\mu) = U_{\delta\theta}^{\mathrm{LL}}(k,\mu,\mu_0)\,\theta(k)\,,\tag{3.27}$$

where the evolution kernel is obtained with the simple replacement $\mu_y^p \to k$,

$$U_{\delta\theta}^{\rm LL}(k,\mu,\mu_0) = -\frac{\gamma_{12}^0}{2\beta_0}\log r \exp\left[\frac{p\pi\Gamma_{11}^0}{\beta_0^2\alpha_s(\mu_0)}\left(\frac{1}{r} - 1 + \log r\right)\right] \left(\frac{k}{\mu_0^p}\right)^{\frac{\Gamma_{11}^0}{2\beta_0}\log(r)}.$$
 (3.28)

Further details about why this simple replacement suffices at LL are given in appendix A.

For concreteness, let us now consider the case where the subleading function $F_{\delta}^{(2)}(k,\mu)$ is the subleading power soft function of eq. (2.7). The soft function depends on a momentum variable of dimension p = 1 and from eqs. (2.20) and (2.21) we have that for $S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(k,\mu)$ the anomalous dimensions are⁴

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{11}(k,\mu) = \tilde{\gamma}_{22}(k,\mu) = \gamma_g^S(k,\mu) \implies \Gamma_{11}^0 = \Gamma_{22}^0 = -4\Gamma_{cusp}^{g,0} = -16C_A , \quad (3.29)$$
$$\gamma_{12}[\alpha_s] = 4\Gamma_{cusp}^g[\alpha_s] \implies \gamma_{12}^0 = 4\Gamma_{cusp}^{g,0} = 16C_A .$$

Using these results in eq. (3.28) we obtain

$$S_{g,\delta}^{(2)\text{LL}}(k,\mu) = -\theta(k) \frac{2\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0} \log r \exp\left[-\frac{4\pi\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0^2\alpha_s(\mu_0)} \left(\frac{1}{r} - 1 + \log r\right)\right] \left(\frac{k}{\mu_0}\right)^{\frac{-2\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0}\log(r)} .$$
(3.30)

⁴The minus sign for Γ_{11}^0 comes from the fact that Laplace transforming eq. (2.9) we have

$$\frac{1}{\mu} \left[\frac{\mu \, \theta(k)}{k} \right]_+ \to -\log(y e^{\gamma_E} \mu) \,,$$

therefore giving

$$\underbrace{-4\Gamma^{g,0}_{\text{cusp}}}_{\Gamma^0_{11}}\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\log(ye^{\gamma_E}\mu)$$

We can resum logarithms in the subleading power soft function by running from the canonical scale of the soft function $\mu_0 = \mu_S = Q\tau$, to an arbitrary scale μ . Hence,

$$S_{g,\delta}^{(2)\text{LL}}(Q\tau,\mu) = -\theta(\tau) \frac{2\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0} \log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\right)$$

$$\times \exp\left[-\frac{4\pi\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0^2\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}{\alpha_s(\mu)} - 1 + \log\frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\right)\right].$$
(3.31)

If we ignore the running of the coupling, this simplifies to

$$S_{g,\delta}^{(2)\mathrm{LL}}(Q\tau,\mu)\Big|_{\alpha_s(\mu)=\alpha_s} = \theta(\tau)4\Gamma_{\mathrm{cusp}}^{g,0}\left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)\log\left(\frac{\mu}{Q\tau}\right)\exp\left[-2\Gamma_{\mathrm{cusp}}^{g,0}\left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)\log^2\left(\frac{\mu}{Q\tau}\right)\right],\tag{3.32}$$

where the physical interpretation is quite clear. Expanding this structure perturbatively in α_s , we have

$$S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(Q\tau,\mu)\Big|_{\alpha_s(\mu)=\alpha_s} = \theta(\tau) \left[\left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right) \gamma_{12}^0 \log\left(\frac{\mu}{Q\tau}\right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^2 \gamma_{12}^0 \Gamma_{11}^0 \log^3\left(\frac{\mu}{Q\tau}\right) + \cdots \right].$$
(3.33)

We see that the first single logarithm is generated by the mixing into the θ -function operators, and then this is dressed by a double logarithmic Sudakov that is driven by the diagonal entries in the mixing matrix, namely the cusp anomalous dimensions. This shows again how the single log appearing in the fixed order expansion is generated through RG evolution, namely through operator mixing. Therefore, as desired, all large logarithms are generated through RG evolution, and they are resummed to all orders by solving the subleading power RG equation with mixing. We also see that the operator mixing is absolutely crucial, since the entire LL result comes from the mixing which starts the evolution.

For completeness, we present also the result for the subleading jet function after LL evolution. The anomalous dimensions are derived in eqs. (2.20) and (2.21) and are related to the soft function ones via RG consistency.

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{11}(k,\mu) = \tilde{\gamma}_{22}(k,\mu) = \gamma_g^J(k,\mu) \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \Gamma_{11}^0 = \Gamma_{22}^0 = 2\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0} = 8C_A ,$$
$$\gamma_{12}[\alpha_s] = -\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\delta\theta}^{S0} \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \gamma_{12}^0 = -2\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0} = -8C_A . \tag{3.34}$$

The canonical scales for $J_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(s,\mu)$ are given by

$$s = \mu_J^2 = \mu_0^2 = Q^2 \tau \implies p = 2.$$
 (3.35)

Therefore, we find

$$J_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(Q^{2}\tau,\mu) = \theta(\tau) \frac{\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_{0}} \log\left(\frac{\alpha_{s}(\mu)}{\alpha_{s}(Q\sqrt{\tau})}\right)$$

$$\times \exp\left[\frac{4\pi\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_{0}^{2}\alpha_{s}(Q\sqrt{\tau})} \left(\frac{\alpha_{s}(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_{s}(\mu)} - 1 + \log\frac{\alpha_{s}(\mu)}{\alpha_{s}(Q\sqrt{\tau})}\right)\right].$$
(3.36)

Therefore, as with the case of the soft function, our analytic solution of the subleading power mixing equation resums the logarithms at subleading power.

4 Leading logarithmic resummation at next-to-leading power

In this section we will apply the formalism for the resummation of subleading power jet and soft functions developed in the previous sections to resum the leading logarithms for thrust in pure glue $H \rightarrow gg$. This is a standard example used to study gluon jets. We have chosen to restrict ourselves to the case of pure glue to demonstrate in the simplest setting the resummation of subleading power logarithms for a physical process and to highlight the role of the θ -jet and θ -soft operators and operator mixing. The inclusion of fermion operators and the extension to other processes is interesting, and will be considered in future work.

The complete structure of power corrections for dijet event shapes in SCET has been described in detail in the literature, where all relevant ingredients have been studied. In the effective theory, there are three sources of power corrections⁵

- Subleading power hard scattering operators [28–31, 68]
- Subleading power expansion of measurement operators and kinematics [15, 21, 29]
- Subleading power Lagrangian insertions [1–5, 59, 69]

It was shown in [59] that there are no radiative contributions for pure glue $H \rightarrow gg$ at NLP at LL order. Therefore we need only consider the first two categories, namely hard scattering operators, and kinematic and measurement expansions, to derive the leading logarithms. We therefore write the cross section as

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{kin,LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} + \frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{hard,LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} \,, \tag{4.1}$$

where we have put the subscript 'LL' to emphasize that we will only give LL expressions for the factorization of the components, and will not include operators that first contribute at higher logarithmic order. In the next two sections we will explicitly work out the factorization and resummation for these two contributions. In both cases the resummation reduces to the mixing equation solved in section 3, allowing us to immediately derive the resummed result for thrust at subleading power.

It is important to emphasize before continuing that the exact split between the terms in eq. (4.1) depends on the choice of momentum routing used to setup the factorization, although the final result for the factorization does not. For example, terms involving ultrasoft derivatives in *T*-products or hard scattering operators can in certain cases be eliminated from the hard term through a choice of momentum routing, and will then appear as kinematic corrections. However, subleading power corrections from operators with additional ultrasoft fields are unambiguously in the hard component. We will define a convenient split in section 4.1.

⁵The decomposition into these different classes of power corrections depends on the particular organization of the effective theory being used, but the final result does not.

4.1 Kinematic and observable corrections

We begin by considering corrections from the expansion of the phase space (kinematics) and the thrust observable definition. These were also considered in the fixed order calculations of [21, 25], but here we will show how they can be treated to all orders as is required for factorization and resummation. In [29] it was shown through explicit calculation that the contributions from the thrust measurement function in our formalism do not contribute at LL order. We therefore only need to consider corrections to the phase space here.

4.1.1 Factorization

At subleading power, in addition to considering the expansion of the matrix elements which enter into the cross section, one must also consider power corrections arising from kinematic constraints on the phase space which can be neglected at leading power. To understand this issue we begin by writing the N particle phase space

$$\sigma = L_H \int \prod_{i=1}^N d^d p_i C(p_i) (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 \left(q - \sum p_i \right) |\mathcal{M}|^2.$$
(4.2)

Here $q^2 = Q^2$ is the momentum of the scattering, $d^d p = d^d p/(2\pi)^d$, $C(p) = 2\pi\delta(p^2)\theta(p^0)$ is the on-shell particle constraint, and L_H is the leptonic tensor. We now consider a final state consisting of *n*-collinear particles with total sector label momentum $\bar{n} \cdot k_n$, \bar{n} collinear particles with total sector label momentum $n \cdot k_{\bar{n}}$, and soft particles with total sector momentum k_s . Since $n \cdot k_s \sim \bar{n} \cdot k_s \sim \lambda^2$, at leading power, we can expand the momentum conserving delta function, and the incoming momentum q fixes the large momentum of the collinear sector, namely

$$\delta\left(n\cdot q - \sum n\cdot p_i\right)\delta\left(\bar{n}\cdot q - \sum \bar{n}\cdot p_i\right) = \delta(n\cdot q - n\cdot k_{\bar{n}})\delta(\bar{n}\cdot q - \bar{n}\cdot k_n).$$
(4.3)

However, when working at subleading powers, we need to consider the power corrections to this formula, which we refer to as kinematic corrections. These can be organized in a number of different ways. Here we describe a way which seems particularly convenient for the process we are considering.

In SCET, exact momentum conservation for both label and residual components is implemented in all diagrams. Residual momenta must then be routed in the diagram, and unlike at leading power, their effects on the kinematics must be kept to the required power. This routing can be chosen arbitrarily, as long as it is done consistently for all contributions.⁶ As an example, consider the routing of the residual momentum from the soft sector. The most naive routing is shown in figure 1(a). Here we imagine that the soft sector has a total momentum k_s . This momentum must be extracted from the collinear sectors. The residual $n \cdot k_s \sim \lambda^2$ and $\bar{n} \cdot k_s \sim \lambda^2$ must be kept in the calculations of the collinear sector when working at $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$, complicating the calculations by requiring us to include ∂_{us} acting on collinear lines. Here we can still neglect the residual perp momentum

 $^{^{6}}$ In particular, as mentioned above, this routing determines whether some contributions enter as kinematic or hard power corrections in the decomposition of eq. (4.1).



Figure 1. Two different routings for the soft momentum. In a) the additional soft momentum is routed into the collinear sectors. In b) the additional momentum is routed in through the hard scattering vertex, simplifying the large momentum routed into the collinear sectors.

of the soft sector, since this enters first as $k_{\perp}^2 \sim \lambda^4$, which is beyond the order to which we work.

A more convenient routing is shown in figure 1(b). Here, we instead route $q + k_s$ into the hard scattering vertex. The collinear sectors then have exactly $n \cdot q$ and $\bar{n} \cdot q$ as their large momentum contributions, and all kinematics in the final state is exact. All kinematic corrections for this routing can be obtained by expanding the phase space factor in the leptonic tensor, which takes the form

$$\frac{1}{(Q+k_s)^4} = \frac{1}{Q^4} - 2\frac{n \cdot k_s}{Q^5} - 2\frac{\bar{n} \cdot k_s}{Q^5} + \mathcal{O}(\tau^2).$$
(4.4)

We therefore introduce the measurement functions

$$n \cdot \hat{k}_s = \sum_{i \in S} n \cdot k_s^i, \qquad \bar{n} \cdot \hat{k}_s = \sum_{i \in S} \bar{n} \cdot k_s^i, \qquad (4.5)$$

where the sum is over all soft particles. To LL accuracy we can make the replacement $n \cdot \hat{k}_s \rightarrow n \cdot \hat{k}_s \theta(\bar{n} \cdot \hat{k}_s - n \cdot \hat{k}_s)$ and $\bar{n} \cdot \hat{k}_s \rightarrow \bar{n} \cdot \hat{k}_s \theta(n \cdot \hat{k}_s - \bar{n} \cdot \hat{k}_s)$, since after multiplying the eikonal integrand $1/(l^+l^-)$ by l^+ (or l^-), the divergence responsible for the anomalous dimension comes only from the region of phase space where l^- (or l^+) is unconstrained by the measurement. These kinematic corrections therefore combine to give the full thrust measurement function

$$n \cdot \hat{k}_s \theta(\bar{n} \cdot \hat{k}_s - n \cdot \hat{k}_s) + \bar{n} \cdot \hat{k}_s \theta(n \cdot \hat{k}_s - \bar{n} \cdot \hat{k}_s) = Q\hat{\tau}_s.$$

$$(4.6)$$

The $n \cdot k_n$ and $\bar{n} \cdot k_{\bar{n}}$ residual momentum of each of the two collinear sectors can also be routed into the current in the exact same manner, leading to power correction given by $Q\hat{\tau}_n$ and $Q\hat{\tau}_{\bar{n}}$ respectively.

We therefore find that the kinematic corrections arising from the phase space expansion give exactly the power suppressed jet and soft functions considered in section 2, namely

$$J_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(s,\mu) = \frac{(2\pi)^3}{(N_c^2 - 1)} \langle 0|\mathcal{B}_{n\perp}^{\mu a}(0) \,\delta(Q + \bar{\mathcal{P}}) \delta^2(\mathcal{P}_{\perp}) \,s \,\delta\left(\frac{s}{Q} - \hat{\mathcal{T}}\right) \mathcal{B}_{n\perp}^{\mu a}(0)|0\rangle \,, \qquad (4.7)$$
$$S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(k,\mu) = \frac{1}{(N_c^2 - 1)} \mathrm{tr} \langle 0|\mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}^T(0)\mathcal{Y}_n(0)k \,\,\delta(k - \hat{\mathcal{T}})\mathcal{Y}_n^T(0)\mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}(0)|0\rangle \,.$$

Indeed, this is one of the reasons why these particular subleading power jet and soft functions were used as an example in section 2.

We can now write down an all orders factorization for the full contribution from kinematic corrections to the cross section at $\mathcal{O}(\tau)$

$$\frac{d\sigma_{\text{kin,LL}}^{(2)}}{d\tau} = n_{\text{kin}} \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q^2} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} H^{(0)}(Q,\mu) J_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(s_n,\mu) J_g^{(0)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) S_g^{(0)}(k,\mu) \qquad (4.8)$$

$$+ n_{\text{kin}} \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q^2} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} H^{(0)}(Q,\mu) J_g^{(0)}(s_n,\mu) J_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) S_g^{(0)}(k,\mu) + n_{\text{kin}} \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} H^{(0)}(Q,\mu) J_g^{(0)}(s_n,\mu) J_g^{(0)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(k,\mu).$$

The factorization for the kinematic corrections is therefore exactly the form considered in eq. (2.3). We have explicitly put the subscript LL, to emphasize that beyond LL there would be additional contributions. Here the integer constant

$$n_{\rm kin} = -2\,,\tag{4.9}$$

is a normalization factor, effectively the number of times this contribution enters, which is obtained from eq. (4.4). We have extracted it as a constant so as to be able to clearly track it, and distinguish it from other integer factors that will appear.

4.1.2 Resummation

Since the kinematic contributions give exactly the illustrative example considered in section 2, we can immediately perform the resummation of logarithms for this contribution using the solution to the mixing RG equation given in section 3. For concreteness, we can run both the soft and hard functions to the jet scale, $\mu_J = Q\sqrt{\tau}$ from their natural scales, $\mu_H = Q$ and $\mu_S = Q\tau$. At leading log order we can set $H^{(0)}(Q,Q) = 1$ and $S_{q,\theta}^{(2)}(Q\tau,Q\tau) = \theta(\tau)$. We therefore have

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{kin,LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = -2 \, U_H(Q, Q\sqrt{\tau}) U_{g,\delta\theta}^S(Q\tau, Q\sqrt{\tau}) \,\theta(\tau) \,, \tag{4.10}$$

Here the hard evolution kernel is that of the leading power hard function.

$$U_H(Q, Q\sqrt{\tau}) = \exp\left\{-\frac{4\pi\Gamma_{\rm cusp}^{g,0}}{\beta_0^2\alpha_s(Q)} \left[\frac{\alpha_s(Q)}{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})} - 1 + \log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q)}\right)\right]\right\}.$$
(4.11)

where $\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0} = 4C_A$ is the one-loop gluon cusp anomalous dimension. The resummed soft function is given by the combination

$$S_{g,\delta}^{(2)}(Q\tau,\mu = Q\sqrt{\tau}) = U_{g,\delta\theta}^{S}(Q\tau,Q\sqrt{\tau}) S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(Q\tau,\mu_0 = Q\tau), \qquad (4.12)$$

and by taking the result of eq. (3.31) with $\mu = Q\sqrt{\tau}$, we have that the evolution kernel for the soft function at LL reads

$$U_{g,\delta\theta}^{S\,\text{LL}}(Q\tau, Q\sqrt{\tau}) = -\frac{2\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0} \log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\right)$$

$$\times \exp\left\{-\frac{4\pi\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0^2\alpha_s(Q\tau)} \left[\frac{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})} - 1 + \log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\right)\right]\right\}.$$
(4.13)

Plugging these expressions for the evolution kernels into eq. (4.10), we find that the resummed result for the kinematic contributions is given by

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{kin,LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \theta(\tau) \frac{4\Gamma_{\mathrm{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0} \log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\right) \exp\left\{-\frac{4\pi\Gamma_{\mathrm{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0^2} \left[\frac{2}{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})} - \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)} - \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)} + \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\right) + \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q)}\log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q)}\right)\right]\right\}.$$
 (4.14)

Simplifying to the case of a fixed coupling and plugging in $\Gamma_{\text{cusp}}^{g,0} = 4C_A$, the kinematic contribution at leading log reads

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{kin,LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right) 16C_A \theta(\tau) \log(\tau) e^{-\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi} \Gamma_{\mathrm{cusp}}^{g,0} \log^2(\tau)}.$$
(4.15)

This is a remarkably simple result, involving double logarithmic asymptotics governed by the cusp anomalous dimension. However, this is not surprising since these corrections arise from a multiplication of the leading power result by τ .

4.2 Hard scattering operators

The second class of contributions that are required for the LL description at NLP arise from corrections to the scattering amplitudes themselves, which in this case are described by subleading power hard scattering operators in the EFT. A complete basis of hard scattering operators at $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$ for $H \to gg$ was derived in [30].

At subleading powers, it becomes important to work in terms of gauge invariant fields, even at the ultrasoft scale. Leading power interactions between soft and collinear particles in the effective theory can be decoupled to all orders using the BPS field redefinition [43], which for the gluon operator reads

$$\mathcal{B}_{n\perp}^{a\mu} \to \mathcal{Y}_n^{ab} \mathcal{B}_{n\perp}^{b\mu} \,. \tag{4.16}$$

This factorizes the Hilbert space into separate soft and collinear sectors. After performing the BPS field redefinition, operators in the effective theory can be written in terms of gauge invariant soft and collinear gluon fields

$$g\mathcal{B}_{us(i)}^{a\mu} = \left[\frac{1}{in_i \cdot \partial_{us}} n_{i\nu} i G_{us}^{b\nu\mu} \mathcal{Y}_{n_i}^{ba}\right], \qquad g\mathcal{B}_{n_i\perp}^{A\mu} = \left[\frac{1}{\bar{\mathcal{P}}} \bar{n}_{i\nu} i G_{n_i}^{B\nu\mu\perp} \mathcal{W}_{n_i}^{BA}\right], \tag{4.17}$$

where \mathcal{Y} and \mathcal{W} are adjoint soft and collinear Wilson lines (see eq. (2.6)). Due to the presence of the Wilson lines, these gauge invariant fields have Feynman rules at every order in α_s . An identical construction exists for collinear and soft fermions, although they will not be needed here since we focus on pure Yang-Mills theory.

The subleading power operators that contribute to the LL cross section involve either an insertion of the $\mathcal{B}_{n\perp}$, or \mathcal{B}_{us} operators. The relevant operators, along with their tree level matching coefficients which are required for LL resummation, are given in table 1. The leading power operator is also given for convenience. An important simplification which

Operator	Tree Level Matching Coefficient	
$\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}^{(0)} = C^{(0)} \delta^{ab} \mathcal{B}^{a}_{\perp \bar{n}, \omega_{2}} \cdot \mathcal{B}^{b}_{\perp \bar{n}, \omega_{1}} H$	$C^{(0)} = -2\omega_1\omega_2 .$	
$\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{P}\mathcal{B}1}^{(2)} = C_{\mathcal{P}\mathcal{B}1}^{(2)} i f^{abc} \mathcal{B}_{n\perp,\omega_1}^a \cdot \left[\mathcal{P}_{\perp} \mathcal{B}_{\bar{n}\perp,\omega_2}^b \cdot \right] \mathcal{B}_{\bar{n}\perp,\omega_3}^c H$	$C_{\mathcal{PB}1}^{(2)} = -\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) 4g\left(2 + \frac{\omega_3}{\omega_2} + \frac{\omega_2}{\omega_3}\right)$	
$\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{PB}2}^{(2)} = C_{\mathcal{PB}2}^{(2)} i f^{abc} \left[\mathcal{P}_{\perp} \cdot \mathcal{B}_{\bar{n}\perp,\omega_3}^a \right] \mathcal{B}_{n\perp,\omega_1}^b \cdot \mathcal{B}_{\perp\bar{n},\omega_2}^c H$	$C_{\mathcal{PB2}}^{(2)} = 4g\left(2 + \frac{\omega_3}{\omega_2} + \frac{\omega_2}{\omega_3}\right)$	
$\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}(us(n))}^{(2)} = C_{\mathcal{B}\bar{n}(us)}^{(2)} \left(i f^{abd} \left(\mathcal{Y}_n^T \mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}} \right)^{dc} \right) \left(\mathcal{B}_{n\perp,\omega_1}^a \cdot \mathcal{B}_{\bar{n}\perp,\omega_2}^b \bar{n} \cdot g \mathcal{B}_{us(n)}^c \right)$	$C^{(2)}_{\mathcal{B}\bar{n}(us)} = -2\omega_2$	
$\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}(us(\bar{n}))}^{(2)} = C_{\mathcal{B}n(us)}^{(2)} \left(i f^{abd} \left(\mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}^T \mathcal{Y}_n \right)^{dc} \right) \left(\mathcal{B}_{n\perp,\omega_1}^a \cdot \mathcal{B}_{\bar{n}\perp,\omega_2}^b n \cdot g \mathcal{B}_{us(\bar{n})}^c \right)$	$C_{\mathcal{B}n(us)}^{(2)} = -2\omega_1$	

Table 1. Hard scattering operators that contribute to the LL cross section to $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$, along with their tree level matching coefficients. These operators and matching coefficients were derived in [30].

occurs for the soft operators is that their Wilson coefficients are fixed by reparametrization invariance (RPI) [18]. In particular, we have the all orders relation

$$C_{\mathcal{B}\bar{n}(us)}^{(2)} = -\frac{\partial C^{(0)}}{\partial \omega_1}, \qquad (4.18)$$

and similarly for $n \leftrightarrow \bar{n}$. As we will see, this will provide a significant simplification, since it fixes the anomalous dimensions of these soft operators. This relationship can be viewed as a manifestation of the Low-Burnett-Kroll theorem [70, 71], where the connection with our SCET based approach has been explained in detail in [18].

The operators which contribute to the fixed order leading logarithms were identified in the calculation of [25] as those which contribute a logarithm at the lowest order in perturbation theory. The leading logarithms to all orders are then obtained by the renormalization of these contributions, which dresses them with an all orders resummation of double logarithms. To prove that this is indeed the case, we can assume that there exists a jet or soft function that first contributes at some higher order, for concreteness α_s^2 , and that this contribution is leading logarithmic, and hence contributes as $\alpha_s^2 \log^3(\tau)$. With our understanding of the renormalization of subleading jet and soft functions, we know that this implies that this function must be renormalized by a subleading power θ -function type operator, since it can't be a self renormalization. Taking $\mu d/d\mu$, the anomalous dimension of such a LL mixing contribution would have to be of the form $\gamma \sim \log^2(\mu/\mu_0)$. However, it is know that anomalous dimensions in SCET can be at most linear in logarithms, which is required by RG consistency. This argument was first presented in [72] in the context of leading power RG consistency. Since this argument relies only on the additive properties of the logarithm, it applies also here. This implies that the operators appearing in table 1 are sufficient to derive the LL resummation.

4.2.1 Factorization

With an understanding of the operators that contribute, it is now straightforward to write down a factorization for their contributions, which is sufficient for the LL resummation. Detailed accounts of the factorization of matrix elements at subleading power have been given in [6, 7, 15, 59, 73]. Since the focus of this paper is on the LL resummation through the mixing with the θ -jet and θ -soft operators, here we simply present the final result for the factorization. Since there are only a small number of operators that appear due to our restriction to a pure glue final state we find a simple LL factorization formula

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{d\sigma_{\text{hard,LL}}^{(2)}}{d\tau} = n_{\text{hard}} \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} H_{n \cdot \mathcal{B}}(Q,\mu) S_{\bar{n}\mathcal{B}_{us}}^{(2)}(k,\mu) J_g^{(0)}(s_n,\mu) \ J_g^{(0)}(s_{\bar{n}},\mu) \tag{4.19}$$

$$+ n_{\text{hard}} \int \frac{ds_n ds_{\bar{n}} dk}{Q^2} \hat{\delta}_{\tau} \int d\omega \ H_{\mathcal{BP}}(\omega, Q, \mu) S_g^{(0)}(k, \mu) J_{\mathcal{BP}}^{(2)}(s_{\bar{n}}, \omega, \mu) J_g^{(0)}(s_n, \mu)$$

Here

$$n_{\text{hard}} = 2, \qquad (4.20)$$

is a combinatorial factor from the equality of $S_{\bar{n}\mathcal{B}_{us}}^{(2)}$ and $S_{n\mathcal{B}_{us}}^{(2)}$ in the first line, and from correcting both jet functions and taking the symmetric combination in the second. This factorization involves a power suppressed soft function

$$S_{\bar{n}\mathcal{B}_{us}}^{(2)}(k,\mu) = \frac{if^{abd}}{N_c^2 - 1} \operatorname{tr} \langle 0 | (\mathcal{Y}_n^T(0)\mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}(0))^{dc} \bar{n} \cdot g\mathcal{B}_{us(n)}^c(0)\delta(k - \hat{\mathcal{T}})(\mathcal{Y}_n(0)\mathcal{Y}_{\bar{n}}^T(0))^{ab} | 0 \rangle, \quad (4.21)$$

which arises from the insertion of the \mathcal{B}_{us} field into the standard leading power soft function. Here we have absorbed the g from the matching coefficient into the soft function. As with the previous subleading power soft functions we have defined in eqs. (2.7) and (2.12), this subleading power soft function has mass dimension zero. This factorization also involves a subleading power jet function

$$\mathcal{J}_{\mathcal{BP}}^{(2)}(s,\omega,\mu) = \frac{(2\pi)^3}{(N_c^2 - 1)} \frac{Q^2}{\omega(Q - \omega)}$$

$$\times \langle 0 | [\mathcal{B}_{\perp\bar{n},\omega}(0)[g\mathcal{B}_{\perp\bar{n}}(0) \cdot \mathcal{P}_{\perp}^{\dagger}] \delta(Q + \bar{\mathcal{P}}) \delta^2(\mathcal{P}_{\perp}) \,\delta\left(\frac{s}{Q} - \hat{\mathcal{T}}\right) \mathcal{B}_{\perp\bar{n}}(0) | 0 \rangle \,,$$

$$(4.22)$$

which arises from the hard scattering operators involving an additional \mathcal{B}_{\perp} field, and \mathcal{P}_{\perp} operator. We have again absorbed the g from the matching coefficient into the definition of the jet function, and as with the subleading power jet functions of eqs. (2.7) and (2.14) we have defined this jet function to have mass dimension 0. This jet function involves a convolution in an additional label variable, which is the label momentum of one of the \mathcal{B}_{\perp} fields. However, at LL this does not play a role in its renormalization.

4.2.2 Resummation

Using the factorized expression for the hard scattering operators, we can resum their contribution to the cross section to LL accuracy. To simplify the LL analysis as much as possible, we can exploit consistency relations in the RG equations. As mentioned in section 2.3, since the subleading power jet and soft functions start as $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$, we can always choose to eliminate one of them. In the present case, it is convenient to choose to run to the jet scale, where

$$J^{(2)}_{\mathcal{BP}}(s,\omega,\mu) = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s).$$
(4.23)

With this choice, we do not need to consider the power suppressed jet functions.

We do, however, have to consider the renormalization of the subleading power soft functions, and the hard function $H_{\bar{n}\cdot\mathcal{B}}$. However, as described in section 4.2, the anomalous dimension of this hard function is fixed by RPI due to the relation of eq. (4.18). This can be seen by differentiating the RG equation for the leading power Wilson coefficient, whose all orders structure is

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} C^{(0)}(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu) = \gamma_C(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu) C^{(0)}(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu) .$$
(4.24)

Taking the derivative with respect to ω_1 , and switching the order of differentiation, we find

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial \omega_1} C^{(0)}(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu) \right] = \frac{\partial}{\partial \omega_1} [\gamma_C(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu)] C^{(0)}(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu) + \gamma_C(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu) \frac{\partial}{\partial \omega_1} C^{(0)}(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu) .$$
(4.25)

The all orders form of the anomalous dimension for the leading power matching coefficient is given by

$$\gamma_C(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu) = \Gamma^g_{\text{cusp}}[\alpha_s(\mu)] \log\left(\frac{-\omega_1 \omega_2}{\mu^2}\right) + \gamma_C[\alpha_s(\mu)], \qquad (4.26)$$

where the second term $\gamma_C[\alpha_s(\mu)]$ is the non-cusp anomalous dimension, which contains no logarithms, and drives the single logarithmic evolution. The leading double logarithmic evolution is governed by the cusp component. The differentiation in the first component removes the double log component, and therefore we have that to LL accuracy

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial \omega_1} C^{(0)}(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu) \right] = \gamma_C(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu) \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial \omega_1} C^{(0)}(\omega_1, \omega_2, \mu) \right].$$
(4.27)

This shows that the LL RG evolution for the subleading power hard scattering operators involving a \mathcal{B}_{us} is identical to that for the leading power hard function, and in particular, is driven by the cusp anomalous dimension.

Finally, the self mixing anomalous dimension of the subleading power soft function is also fixed by RG consistency. In particular, the jet functions appearing in the factorization of eq. (4.19) are the leading power jet functions, and their anomalous dimensions are given in eq. (2.9). Combining this with the known anomalous dimension for the hard function, it implies by RG consistency relations of section 2.3 that the self mixing anomalous dimension of the subleading power soft function is equal to that of the leading power soft function to LL.

We therefore only need to compute the mixing anomalous dimensions into the θ function operators for the soft functions involving the \mathcal{B}_{us} operators. Computing the one loop matrix element of the power suppressed soft function, we find

$$S_{\bar{n}\mathcal{B}_{us}}^{(2)}(k,\mu)\Big|_{\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)} = \underbrace{\underbrace{\mathcal{Y}_n}_{\mathcal{Y}_n}}_{\mathcal{Y}_n} \underbrace{\underbrace{\mathcal{Y}_n}_{\mathcal{Y}_n}}_{\mathcal{Y}_n} + \underbrace{\underbrace{\mathcal{Y}_n}_{\mathcal{Y}_n}}_{\mathcal{Y}_n} \underbrace{\underbrace{\mathcal{Y}_n}_{\mathcal{Y}_n}}_{\mathcal{Y}_n} \underbrace{(4.28)}_{\mathcal{Y}_n} \\ = g^2 \left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{\gamma_E}}{4\pi}\right)^{\epsilon} C_A \int \frac{d^d l}{(2\pi)^d} \left(\frac{2}{l^+} + \frac{2}{l^-}\right) 2\pi \delta(l^2) \theta(l^0) k \delta(k - Q\hat{\tau}) \\ = 4C_A \frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{4\pi} \theta(k) \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{k^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)\right).$$

As with the illustrative example of eq. (2), we see that this soft function mixes with a θ -function operator. The RG consistency relations of section 2.3 imply that the all orders structure of the function being mixed into is that of the adjoint soft function θ -function operator of eq. (2.12). We note that this is a highly non-trivial statement, which would be difficult to prove in perturbation theory, but is dictated by the RG consistency equations of the EFT. We therefore find a 2 × 2 mixing structure

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \begin{pmatrix} S_{\bar{n}\mathcal{B}_{us}}(k,\mu) \\ S_{g,\theta}(k,\mu) \end{pmatrix} = \int dk' \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{\bar{n}\cdot\mathcal{B}_{us}}^{S}(k-k',\mu) & \gamma_{\bar{n}\cdot\mathcal{B}_{us}\theta}\,\delta(k-k') \\ 0 & \gamma_{g,\theta\theta}^{S}(k-k',\mu) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} S_{\bar{n}\mathcal{B}_{us}}(k',\mu) \\ S_{g,\theta}(k',\mu) \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.29)

where to LL accuracy,

$$\gamma_{\bar{n}\cdot\mathcal{B}_{us}}^{S}(k,\mu) = 4\Gamma_{cusp}^{g0} \frac{\alpha_{s}(\mu)}{4\pi} \frac{1}{\mu} \left[\frac{\mu\,\theta(k)}{k}\right]_{+}, \qquad (4.30)$$
$$\gamma_{\bar{n}\cdot\mathcal{B}_{us}\theta} = 8C_{A} \frac{\alpha_{s}(\mu)}{4\pi}.$$

This therefore determines all the anomalous dimensions that are required for LL resummation at NLP. Since the RG equation takes exactly the form already solved in section 3, we can immediately use those results to perform the resummation.

Just as for the kinematic contribution, here we run all the functions to the jet scale, $\mu_J^2 = Q^2 \tau$. At their natural scales, $\mu_H = Q$ and $\mu_S = Q \tau$, the hard and the soft function are respectively⁷ $H_{\bar{n}\cdot\mathcal{B}}(Q,Q) = 1$ and $S_{g,\theta}^{(2)}(Q\tau,Q\tau) = \theta(\tau)$. Using $n_{\text{hard}} = 2$ from eq. (4.20), the hard scattering operator contribution is

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{hard,LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = 2 \, U_{H_{\bar{n}\cdot\mathcal{B}}}(Q, Q\sqrt{\tau}) \, U_{\bar{n}B_{us}}^S(Q\tau, Q\sqrt{\tau}) \, \theta(\tau) \,. \tag{4.31}$$

As was shown above, the hard evolution kernel $U_{H_{\bar{n}}.B}(Q, Q\sqrt{\tau})$ is identical to that for the leading power operator, which is quoted in eq. (4.11). The soft function takes an identical form to that given in eq. (3.27), but with $k = \mu_0 = Q\tau$ and the anomalous dimensions from eq. (4.30). Hence, we get

$$S_{g,\delta}^{(2)\mathrm{LL}}(Q\tau, Q\sqrt{\tau}) = -\theta(\tau) \frac{8C_A}{\beta_0} \log(r) \exp\left[-\frac{4\pi\Gamma_{\mathrm{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0^2\alpha_s(Q\tau)} \left(\frac{1}{r} - 1 + \log(r)\right)\right], \quad (4.32)$$

where here we have

$$r = \frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)} \,. \tag{4.33}$$

 $^{{}^{7}}H_{\bar{n}\cdot\mathcal{B}}$ is related to the Wilson coefficient $C^{(2)}_{\mathcal{B}\bar{n}(us)}$ of the hard scattering operator. From table 1 we see that at LP we have $|C^{(0)}(Q,Q)|^2 = 4Q^4$, and these factors are contained in the normalization factor σ_0 . At subleading power this factor is coming from the interference of $O^{(2)}_{\mathcal{B}\bar{n}(us)}$ with $O^{(0)}$, which gives $C^{(2)}_{\mathcal{B}\bar{n}(us)}(Q,Q)C^{(0)}(Q,Q) = 4Q^3$. In eq. (4.19) one can see the extra 1/Q in the prefactor of the factorization theorem which is precisely the ratio of the tree level subleading Wilson coefficient by the LP one. Thus our $H_{\bar{n}\cdot\mathcal{B}}(Q,Q)$ is normalized so that it is dimensionless and equal to 1 at tree level.



Figure 2. Plots of the LP and NLP fixed order and resummed predictions for thrust in pure glue $H \rightarrow gg$, with and without running coupling. In a) we show $d\sigma/d\tau$ and in b) we show $\tau d\sigma/d\tau$. Resummation at LP cures a $1/\tau$ divergence, while resummation at NLP overturns a much weaker logarithmic divergence, leading to a broader shoulder.

Combining these pieces together, we have

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{hard,LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = -\theta(\tau) \frac{2\Gamma_{\mathrm{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0} \log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\right) \exp\left\{-\frac{4\pi\Gamma_{\mathrm{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0^2} \left[\frac{2}{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})} - \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)} - \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)} - \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)} + \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)} \log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\right) + \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q)} \log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q)}\right)\right]\right\}. \quad (4.34)$$

As with the kinematic contribution to the cross section, we find that the contribution from hard scattering operators resums at LL accuracy into a Sudakov exponential governed by the cusp anomalous dimension.

It is important to emphasize that the simplicity of this result is largely due to the restriction to LL. At LL accuracy the anomalous dimensions do not involve additional convolution variables in the subleading power jet and soft functions, and are purely multiplicative in these variables. This significantly simplifies the structure, with the primary ingredient to achieve renormalization and resummation being the mixing with the θ -jet and θ -soft functions. Beyond LL, the θ -jet and θ -soft will continue to play an important role, but the convolution structure will become more complicated.

4.3 Resummed result for thrust in $H \rightarrow gg$ at next-to-leading power

Having resummed the two different contributions to the cross section in eq. (4.1), we can now give a resummed result for thrust in pure glue $H \rightarrow gg$. Adding together the different contributions, each of which is dressed by the same Sudakov exponential, we find

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{kin,LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} + \frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{hard,LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} \\
= \theta(\tau) \frac{8C_A}{\beta_0} \log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\right) \exp\left\{-\frac{4\pi\Gamma_{\mathrm{cusp}}^{g,0}}{\beta_0^2} \left[\frac{2}{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})} - \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)} - \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q)}\right] \\
+ \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)} \log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q\tau)}\right) + \frac{1}{\alpha_s(Q)} \log\left(\frac{\alpha_s(Q\sqrt{\tau})}{\alpha_s(Q)}\right) \right]\right\}.$$
(4.35)

With a fixed coupling, eq. (4.35) simplifies to

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{LL}}^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} \bigg|_{\alpha_s(\mu) = \alpha_s} = \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right) 8C_A \theta(\tau) \log(\tau) e^{-4C_A \frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi} \log^2(\tau)} \,. \tag{4.36}$$

This shows the exponentiation of the subleading power logarithms into a Sudakov form factor governed by the cusp anomalous dimension, and is one of the main results of this paper. We note that this result is simply $-\tau$ multiplying the LP result with LL resummation. This simplicity is in part related to the fact that we have chosen a simple event shape example, and is not expected to hold in general at LL, nor beyond LL. In section 5 we will check this result to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ by expanding known results for the amplitudes [74–76], and find complete agreement.

This resummation tames the (integrable) singularity in the subleading power cross section as $\tau \to 0$. A plot of the LL NLP resummed cross section is shown in figure 2, along with the NLP fixed order results, and the LP results. Results with and without running coupling are shown. We use $\alpha_s(m_Z) = 0.118$ for the running coupling $\alpha_s(\mu)$, and when we freeze the coupling, we use $\alpha_s = \alpha_s(m_H) = 0.113$. The NLP results are multiplied by a factor of 10 in figure 2 a) and a factor of 5 in figure 2 b) to make them visible. Due to the fact that the NLP result is not enhanced by a factor of $1/\tau$ it leads to a much broader result, peaked at large values of τ . This has interesting consequences for the effect of the running coupling. In particular, at subleading power the running coupling has a much smaller effect, since the distribution is more suppressed at smaller values of τ . At higher powers, resummation is not required for the cross section to go to zero as $\tau \to 0$, since the corrections behave as $\tau^n \log^m(\tau)$, with n > 0. Nevertheless, RG equations are still useful for predicting higher order terms in the perturbative expansion.

5 Subleading power collinear limit and fixed order check

In this section we check our resummed result for thrust to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ by explicitly calculating the power corrections to this order. This is achieved by exploiting a relation between the LL result and the subleading power collinear limit of the involved amplitudes. We also discuss flipping around this logic, and using the resummed results to constrain corrections in the collinear limit at *n*th-loop order. In particular, for $H \to ggg$ we will show that the same loop corrections dress terms that appear at leading and next-to-leading order in the power expansion.

The N-loop fixed order result at NLP can be written as [21, 25]

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{(2,N)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \sum_{\kappa} \sum_{i=0}^{2N-1} \frac{c_{\kappa,i}}{\epsilon^i} \left(\frac{\mu^{2N}}{Q^{2N}\tau^{m(\kappa)}}\right)^{\epsilon} + \dots , \qquad (5.1)$$

where the dots involve terms that are first relevant beyond LL order. Our superscript (j, N) notation denotes the subleading power at order j and loop order N. Here the sum over κ is over different possible combinations of soft, collinear, or hard particles entering

the N-loop result, and the power $m(\kappa)$ appearing in eq. (5.1) depends on this combination. For example, a single emission at NLP can be either soft, or collinear, and we have

soft:
$$\kappa = s$$
, $m(\kappa) = 2$, (5.2)
collinear: $\kappa = c$, $m(\kappa) = 1$.

For a more detailed discussion see [21, 25]. By demanding cancellation of poles in $1/\epsilon$, as is required for an infrared and collinear safe observable, one can derive relations between contributions involving different numbers of hard, collinear and soft particles, which were used in [21, 25] to simplify the NNLO fixed order calculation of the NLP leading logarithms. In particular, in [21, 25], it was shown that the complete result for the leading logarithms for thrust can be written at any order purely in terms of the N-loop hard-collinear coefficient describing a single collinear splitting

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{(2,N)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = c_{hc,2N-1} \log^{2N-1} \tau + \cdots .$$
(5.3)

Here the dots denote subleading logarithms. More precisely, here $c_{hc,2N-1}$ is the result for the leading $1/\epsilon$ divergence (as in eq. (5.1)) with N-1 hard loops correcting a single collinear splitting. One class of diagram that contributes is



but there will also be hard loop corrections to the amplitudes on both sides of the cut. This relation will allow us to check our result obtained from renormalization group evolution to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ by expanding known results for $H \to ggg$ at two loops [76]. In addition, it will also allow us to use our result for the all orders logarithms in thrust derived from RG evolution to understand the subleading power collinear limit at higher orders.

5.1 General structure

Before presenting our result for the expanded amplitude squared in the collinear limit, we begin by reviewing the known IR structure of amplitudes, which we will use to organize our result. The IR structure of amplitudes is summarized by the dipole formula [77] and its generalization [78–81], which provides a prediction for all the IR $1/\epsilon$ poles of scattering amplitudes at n loops (recall that we use $\alpha_s/(4\pi)$ as the loop expansion parameter). Here we only need the full QCD amplitude for $H \to$ three partons at n-loops

$$M^{(n)} = M^{(n)}_{\text{dipole}} + M^{(n)}_{R}.$$
(5.4)

Here $M_{\text{dipole}}^{(n)}$ contains all $1/\epsilon$ poles, while the remainder part $M_R^{(n)}$ is finite but still carries functional dependence on the kinematics that can become singular in certain limits (it

is typically called the finite term but we will not use this naming scheme here). When integrating over these regions of phase space, $M_R^{(n)}$ must be known to all orders in ϵ , and does contribute to the LL result. More explicitly, at one-loop, we have

$$M^{(1)} = I^{(1)}(\epsilon)M^{(0)} + M^{(1)}_R.$$
(5.5)

Here $I^{(1)}(\epsilon)$ is an operator in color space that can be predicted from the infrared structure of the scattering process. Using the color-charge operator notation, $I^{(1)}(\epsilon)$ can be written as [77]

$$I^{(1)}(\epsilon) = \frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi} \frac{e^{-\epsilon\gamma_E}}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)} \sum_i \frac{1}{\mathbf{T}_i^2} \left(\mathbf{T}_i^2 \frac{1}{\epsilon^2} + \gamma_i \frac{1}{\epsilon} \right) \sum_{j \neq i} \mathbf{T}_i \cdot \mathbf{T}_j \left(\frac{\mu^2 e^{-i\pi}}{2p_i \cdot p_j} \right)^{\epsilon}, \quad (5.6)$$

where \mathbf{T}_i is the color-charge operator of massless parton i, γ_i is the associated quark/gluon anomalous dimension, and we assume all QCD partons are outgoing for simplicity. In this paper, we have focused only on deriving a leading logarithmic result for thrust at subleading power. One obvious source of leading logarithmic contributions comes from the leading divergent terms in the amplitudes [21, 25], which exponentiate trivially. For $H \to g(p_1)g(p_2)g(p_3)$ in pure glue QCD, we have

$$M_{\rm dipole,LL} = \exp\left[-\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\frac{C_A}{\epsilon^2}\left(\left(-\frac{\mu^2}{s_{12}}\right)^\epsilon + \left(-\frac{\mu^2}{s_{13}}\right)^\epsilon + \left(-\frac{\mu^2}{s_{23}}\right)^\epsilon\right)\right]M^{(0)},\qquad(5.7)$$

where $s_{ij} = (p_i + p_j)^2$. The subscript LL denotes that only terms contributing to thrust at LL are kept. Note that eq. (5.7) contains not only divergent terms, but also finite terms through the expansion of ϵ . After squaring the amplitudes and integrating over the phase space, the leading divergences at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^{n+1})$ become $\alpha_s^{n+1}/\epsilon^{2n+1}$ at NLP, and give rise to leading logarithms for the thrust cross section. In general, the remainder part M_R are not known to exhibit an iterative structure to all orders.

Typically, LL resummation at LP is carried out either by using the coherent branching formalism [82–84] which makes use of strongly ordered real radiation, or by computing anomalous dimensions from virtual ultraviolet divergences to hard, jet, and soft functions in SCET. However, by consistency this LL resummation also provides interesting information about higher order virtual loop corrections to a single collinear splitting. In the next section we discuss this at both LP and NLP. Further details for the leading power case can be found in appendix B. For this analysis both the dipole and remainder terms contribute. Although the remainder terms do not have explicit poles in ϵ , they do not necessarily vanish in the soft or colllinear limits, and in particular contain logarithms in these limits. We will use our all orders understanding of the leading logarithms for thrust derived in section 4 to show that the remainder terms also exhibit interesting exponentiation patterns.

5.2 Subleading power collinear splitting

To perform the expansion of the squared amplitudes in the collinear limits, we use the results of [76]. These are in a particularly convenient form for our purposes, namely they are already expressed in a decomposition into the dipole and remainder terms.

For $H \to g(p_1)g(p_2)g(p_3)$, the collinear power expansion at amplitude level is controlled by $s = P^2 = (p_1 + p_2)^2$, the invariant mass of a pair of gluons. At tree level, the leading power result is given by

$$|M^{(0,0)}|^2 = 2\tilde{\lambda}^2 \frac{(1-z+z^2)^2}{z(1-z)} \frac{Q^2}{s}, \qquad (5.8)$$

where $\tilde{\lambda}^2 = 128N_c\lambda^2\pi^2$, λ is the effective coupling of dimension 5 Higgs-gluon-gluon operator, and z is the longitudinal momentum fraction of p_1 with respective to P in the collinear limit. The next-to-leading power collinear expansion is

$$|M^{(2,0)}|^2 = 2\tilde{\lambda}^2 \frac{1+2z-3z^2+2z^3-z^4}{z(1-z)} \,. \tag{5.9}$$

Here we have used a double superscript notation where the first superscript indicates the power in s/Q^2 , and the second indicates the order in α_s . Eq. (5.9) contains end-point singularity in the momentum fraction, which is regularized by the *d* dimension phase space measure. For the purpose of extracting the leading logarithms, it is only necessary to consider the $z \to 0$ or $z \to 1$ limit. In the current case the two limits are identical, and we find

$$|M^{(2,0)}|_{\rm LL}^2 = \tilde{\lambda}^2 \frac{2}{z(1-z)}, \qquad (5.10)$$

where we use subscript LL to denote that only the end-point singular term in z is retained. We can use these to define the tree level LP and NLP splitting functions, valid at LL level

$$P_{gg,LL}^{(0,0)} = \frac{Q^2}{s} \frac{2}{z(1-z)}, \quad P_{gg,LL}^{(2,0)} = \frac{2}{z(1-z)}.$$
(5.11)

Here we see the explicit suppression in s/Q^2 of the NLP result. We then have

$$|M^{(0,0)}|_{\rm LL}^2 = \tilde{\lambda}^2 P_{gg,\rm LL}^{(0,0)}, \qquad |M^{(2,0)}|_{\rm LL}^2 = \tilde{\lambda}^2 P_{gg,\rm LL}^{(2,0)}.$$
(5.12)

Using eq. (5.7) it is trivial to give the all loop result for squared amplitude for the terms predicted by dipole formula. We find

$$|M|^{2}_{\text{dipole,LP,LL}} = \tilde{\lambda}^{2} P_{gg,\text{LL}}^{(0,0)} \exp\left(F_{\text{dipole}}\right) , \qquad |M|^{2}_{\text{dipole,NLP,LL}} = \tilde{\lambda}^{2} P_{gg,\text{LL}}^{(2,0)} \exp\left(F_{\text{dipole}}\right) , \tag{5.13}$$

where

$$F_{\rm dipole} = \frac{\alpha_s \mu^{2\epsilon}}{4\pi} \frac{(-2C_A)}{\epsilon^2} \left([(1-z)Q^2]^{-\epsilon} + s^{-\epsilon} + [zQ^2]^{-\epsilon} \right) \,. \tag{5.14}$$

Interestingly, the form of the dipole term guarantees that its leading logarithmic loop corrections are independent of the power expansion. The power expansion arises only in the expansion of the tree level amplitude squared.

Much more interesting are the remainder terms of the amplitude, whose all order form is not predicted. We can begin by looking at their form at one-loop. By inspecting the higher order in ϵ terms in the remainder term of the amplitude, we can write down an all-order-in- ϵ expression for the leading transcendental piece of the remainder terms (i.e. the piece required to give the LL for thrust). We find

$$2\operatorname{Re}\left[M^{(0)*}M_{R}^{(1)}\right]\Big|_{\operatorname{LP,LL}} = -2C_{A}\tilde{\lambda}^{2}P_{gg,\operatorname{LL}}^{(0,0)}$$
$$\times \frac{\alpha_{s}\,\mu^{2\epsilon}}{4\pi} \left[\left(\frac{[Q^{2}]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{[z(1-z)Q^{2}]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}}\right) - \left(\frac{[s]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{[z(1-z)s]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}}\right)\right]. \tag{5.15}$$

The structure of this leading transcendental component of the remainder term is quite interesting. Expanding it, we see that both the $1/\epsilon^2$ and $1/\epsilon$ poles cancel, giving a finite result

$$\left[\left(\frac{[Q^2]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^2} - \frac{[z(1-z)Q^2]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^2} \right) - \left(\frac{[s]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^2} - \frac{[z(1-z)s]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^2} \right) \right] \\ = \frac{[Q^2]^{-\epsilon}}{2} \left(-\log^2\left(\frac{s}{Q^2}\right) - \log^2(z(1-z)) + \log^2\left(\frac{s(1-z)z}{Q^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) \right). \quad (5.16)$$

However, we see that this term secretly contains leading poles in $1/\epsilon$ when written in the form of eq. (5.1) and therefore will contribute to the LL result at LP. The reason is that when integrating over the momentum fraction z using d dimension phase space measure, there is a mismatch in the exponent of z between different terms. Since this is a non-traditional way to obtain the leading logarithms for the thrust distribution, we provide a more detailed explanation in appendix B. For the NLP terms, we find the exact same structure, with only a different prefactor

$$2\operatorname{Re}\left[\left.M^{(0)*}M_{R}^{(1)}\right]\right|_{\operatorname{NLP,LL}} = -2C_{A}\tilde{\lambda}^{2}P_{gg,\mathrm{LL}}^{(2,0)} \\ \times \frac{\alpha_{s}\,\mu^{2\epsilon}}{4\pi} \left[\left.\left(\frac{[Q^{2}]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{[z(1-z)Q^{2}]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}}\right) - \left(\frac{[s]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{[z(1-z)s]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}}\right)\right].$$
(5.17)

Interestingly, as was the case for the dipole terms, we again see that the transcendental structure is the same at LP and NLP, and it just multiplies the tree level splitting function.

Going to two loops, quite interestingly, we find that the remainder term is

$$2\operatorname{Re}\left[M^{(0)*}M_{R}^{(2)}\right] + M_{R}^{(1)*}M_{R}^{(1)}\Big|_{\operatorname{LP,LL}} = 2C_{A}^{2}\tilde{\lambda}^{2}P_{gg,\operatorname{LL}}^{(0,0)}$$
$$\times \frac{\alpha_{s}^{2}\mu^{4\epsilon}}{(4\pi)^{2}}\left[\left(\frac{[Q^{2}]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{[z(1-z)Q^{2}]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}}\right) - \left(\frac{[s]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{[z(1-z)s]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^{2}}\right)\right]^{2}.$$
 (5.18)

Note that only the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ terms in eq. (5.18) are explicitly verified using the two-loop amplitudes. To verify to higher order in ϵ , one needs to know the two-loop amplitudes also to higher order in ϵ , which are currently not available in the literature. However, since this contribution is related to the hard-collinear contribution in the effective theory, the renormalizability of the effective theory guarantees that the all loop result can be obtained by RG evolution of the lowest order result. To LL, the power expansion in the amplitudes acts only on the kinematic factors giving rise to the lowest order splitting functions in eq. (5.11), but not on the transcendental function. This therefore fixes the all order in ϵ form of eq. (5.18). Compared with eq. (5.15), we have the relation

$$\frac{2\operatorname{Re}\left[M^{(0)*}M_{R}^{(2)}\right] + M_{R}^{(1)*}M_{R}^{(1)}\Big|_{\operatorname{LP,LL}}}{|M^{(0,0)}|_{\operatorname{LL}}^{2}} = \frac{1}{2!} \left(\frac{2\operatorname{Re}\left[M^{(0)*}M_{R}^{(1)}\right]\Big|_{\operatorname{LP,LL}}}{|M^{(0,0)}|_{\operatorname{LL}}^{2}}\right)^{2}, \quad (5.19)$$

that is, the remainder term also exponentiates. Similarly, for the NLP piece, we have

$$\frac{2\operatorname{Re}\left[M^{(0)*}M_R^{(2)}\right] + M_R^{(1)*}M_R^{(1)}\Big|_{\operatorname{NLP,LL}}}{|M^{(2,0)}|_{\operatorname{LL}}^2} = \frac{1}{2!} \left(\frac{2\operatorname{Re}\left[M^{(0)*}M_R^{(1)}\right]\Big|_{\operatorname{NLP,LL}}}{|M^{(2,0)}|_{\operatorname{LL}}^2}\right)^2.$$
(5.20)

Here we observe exponentiation of the remainder term at LP and NLP, and furthermore, we again see that the transcendental structure at both LP and NLP is identical.

With the expanded result for the squared amplitude, we can simply integrate it over the collinear phase space to obtain the result for thrust. We find

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma^{(2)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right) 8C_A \log \tau - \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^2 32C_A^2 \log^3 \tau + \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^3 64C_A^3 \log^5 \tau + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^4) \,. \tag{5.21}$$

This agrees with the result derived from the RG in eq. (4.35), and provides an explicit check at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ of the result from the RG. The terms to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^2)$ were also computed in [25] using this technique. The $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ term has not previously appeared in the literature.

We can now use the higher order terms predicted by the RG to study the collinear limit at higher loop orders. In particular, since we have derived using the RG that the leading logarithms for thrust exponentiate into a Sudakov, given in eq. (4.35), the all-loop expansion of the amplitudes in the collinear limit must agree with this exponentiation.

We have already shown that at least to two loops, the leading logarithmic contribution of the remainder terms exponentiate. Combined with the exponentiation of the dipole terms, we conjecture that to all orders, amplitudes in the collinear limit through to NLP exponentiate, namely

$$[M^*M]|_{\rm LP,LL} = \tilde{\lambda}^2 P_{gg,LL}^{(0,0)} e^{F_{\rm dipole} + F_R}, \quad [M^*M]|_{\rm NLP,LL} = \tilde{\lambda}^2 P_{gg,LL}^{(2,0)} e^{F_{\rm dipole} + F_R}, \quad (5.22)$$

where

$$F_R = \frac{\alpha_s \mu^{2\epsilon}}{4\pi} (-2C_A) \left[\left(\frac{[Q^2]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^2} - \frac{[z(1-z)Q^2]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^2} \right) - \left(\frac{[s]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^2} - \frac{[z(1-z)s]^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon^2} \right) \right].$$
(5.23)

In particular, this result reproduces the leading logarithms in thrust obtained through RG evolution to all loop order in eq. (4.35). Note that this is an amplitude level statement, and while we have explicitly checked it to two loops, and when integrated over z it agrees with our result obtained from the RG for thrust, which provides a strong check, we phrase it only as a conjecture, since it is possible z dependent terms that do not give rise to leading logarithms for the thrust observable could be present. This seems to imply an interesting iterative structure for the remainder terms of the amplitude, which is relevant for leading

logarithmic resummation, and goes beyond the dipole formula. This would be interesting to investigate further, and we hope that the study of subleading power limits will lead to a further understanding.

Here we have only considered the case of $H \to ggg$, but it is important to understand the universality of the above subleading power splitting functions, and in particular of their loop corrections, even at a given logarithmic accuracy. The universality of subleading power collinear factorization has been studied at tree level in [85], but it would be interesting to try to extend it to all loop order using the techniques in this paper. A perhaps related question is the definition of an infrared finite remainder function in planar $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM, where a clever definition of exponentiated terms can lead to a better behaved remainder function [86].

6 Conclusions

In this paper we have, for the first time, resummed to all orders in α_s subleading power logarithms for the thrust observable to LL accuracy for pure glue $H \rightarrow gg$. We have shown that the subleading power logarithms exponentiate to all orders into a Sudakov exponential controlled by the cusp anomalous dimension multiplying a logarithm, see eq. (4.35). Resummation is achieved by RG evolution of gauge invariant non-local Wilson line operators and its accuracy is systematically improvable.

The renormalization of subleading power jet and soft functions requires the introduction of a new class of universal soft and collinear functions, which we termed θ -jet and θ -soft functions. These functions, which involve θ -functions of the measurement, appear through operator mixing, and we argued that they will play a general role in renormalization and resummation at subleading powers. We introduced a simple example which allowed us to understand the structure of these functions to all orders in α_s , as well as to derive their renormalization group evolution, which we proved closes into a 2 × 2 mixing equation. We analytically solved this subleading power RG mixing equation, including the effects of running coupling.

We checked our result derived from RG evolution to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ by direct calculation of the power corrections. Using consistency relations from the cancellation of IR poles, the leading logarithms can be derived entirely from the collinear limit, allowing us to use our all orders result derived from the RG equations to understand higher order loop corrections to the subleading power collinear limit. We showed explicitly that to two-loops all leading transcendental pieces in the collinear and subleading power collinear limit exponentiate. We conjectured that this exponentiation holds to all loop order, and showed that this results in agreement with the results for the thrust observable derived from RG evolution. This seems to indicate an interesting structure for the IR finite terms in the subleading power collinear limits, beyond what is predicted by the dipole formula, and it would be interesting to investigate this further.

Since this represents the first all orders resummation of NLP logarithms for an event shape, there are many interesting directions in which it can be extended. In particular, it will be important to extend our results to higher logarithmic accuracy to understand what universal structures persist. The simplicity of the leading logarithmic structure to all powers suggests the possibility of a simple structure. It will also be interesting to study subleading power corrections for other observables, such as q_T or in the threshold limit, as well as to extend the calculation to the *N*-jet case, for example for the *N*-jettiness observable [87]. The renormalization of amplitude level hard scattering operators for the *N*-jet case was recently considered [28], which provides an important ingredient in this direction. Our work provides a path for the systematic resummation of subleading power logarithms for event shapes, and we hope that this will lead to an improved understanding of the all orders structure of the subleading power soft and collinear limits.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported in part by the Office of Nuclear Physics of the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract No. DE-SC0011090, by the Office of High Energy Physics of the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231, by the Simons Foundation Investigator Grant No. 327942, and by the LDRD Program of LBNL. IM thanks Zhejiang University and the MIT Center for Theoretical Physics for hospitality while portions of this work were performed.

A Solution to subleading power RG mixing equation in momentum space

In section 3 we have shown that in the leading log approximation, and in the case when $\Gamma_{11}^{(0)} = \Gamma_{22}^{(0)}$, the solution to the subleading power RG mixing equation in position space is eq. (3.26). Here we provide additional details on the transformation of this result back to momentum space. In position space the logarithms for the boundary condition are minimized by the choice $\mu_0 = \mu_y$. For thrust at subleading power there are no distributions, and the logarithms have a simple correspondence between position and momentum space without subleties. This is analogous to the situation between position space and cumulative thrust at leading power. To derive an exact relation for the Fourier transform we note that

$$\int \frac{dy}{2\pi} e^{iky} \left(iy \right)^{-1-\epsilon} = \frac{\theta(k)k^{\epsilon}}{\Gamma(1+\epsilon)} \,, \tag{A.1}$$

where branch cuts are defined by y = y - i0. Defining $e^{-\epsilon \gamma_E} / \Gamma(1+\epsilon) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} e_k \epsilon^k$, we have $e_0 = 1, e_1 = 0, e_2 = -\zeta_2/2, e_3 = \zeta_3/2$, etc. Expanding eq. (A.1) in ϵ leads to the identity we need to connect the subleading power logarithms in position and momentum space,

$$\int \frac{dy}{2\pi} e^{iky} \frac{\log^n (iye^{\gamma_E} \mu^p)}{i(y-i0)} = (-1)^n \sum_{j=0}^n \frac{n!}{j!} e_{n-j} \log^j \left(\frac{k}{\mu^p}\right) \theta(k).$$
(A.2)

Keeping only the LL term on the r.h.s. gives the simple correspondence $\log^n(iye^{\gamma_E}\mu^p)/(iy) \to (-1)^n \log^n(k/\mu^p) \theta(k)$. To see how this works in an explicit example,

we can rewrite the resummed position space result in eq. (3.26) as

$$\tilde{F}_{\delta}^{(2)\text{LL}}(y,\mu) = \tilde{U}_{\delta\theta}^{F,\text{LL}}(y,\mu,\mu_0)\tilde{F}_{\theta}^{(2)}(y,\mu_0) = A \frac{(e^{\gamma_E} iy\mu_0^p)^{\omega}}{i(y-i0)}$$

$$= \frac{A}{i(y-i0)} e^{\omega \log(e^{\gamma_E} iy\mu_0^p)} = A \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \omega^n \frac{\log^n (e^{\gamma_E} iy\mu_0^p)}{i(y-i0)} ,$$
(A.3)

where $A \equiv -\frac{\gamma_{12}^{(0)}}{2\beta_0}\log r \exp\left[\frac{p\pi\Gamma_{11}^{(0)}}{\beta_0^2\alpha_s(\mu_0)}\left(\frac{1}{r}-1+\log r\right)\right]$ and $\omega \equiv -\frac{\Gamma_{11}^{(0)}}{2\beta_0}\log(r)$ are dimensionless y independent expressions, where here $r = \alpha_s(\mu)/\alpha_s(\mu_0)$. Using eq. (A.2) we have

$$F_{\delta}^{(2)\text{LL}}(k,\mu) = \int \frac{dy}{2\pi} e^{iky} \tilde{F}_{\delta}^{(2)\text{LL}}(y,\mu) = A \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \omega^n \int \frac{dy}{2\pi} e^{iky} \frac{\log^n \left(e^{\gamma_E} iy\mu_0^p\right)}{i(y-i0)}$$
$$= A \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^n \omega^n (-1)^n \frac{e_{n-j}}{j!} \log^j \left(\frac{k}{\mu_0^p}\right) \theta(k) \,.$$
(A.4)

Here all the terms with j < n are subleading logs, therefore at LL order we can keep just the j = n term to give

$$\begin{aligned} F_{\delta}^{(2)\text{LL}}(k,\mu) &= A \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\omega)^n}{n!} e_0 \log^n(k) \theta(k) = A e^{-\omega \log(k)} \theta(k) \end{aligned} \tag{A.5} \\ &= -\theta(k) \frac{\gamma_{12}^{(0)}}{2\beta_0} \log r \exp\left[\frac{p\pi \Gamma_{11}^{(0)}}{\beta_0^2 \alpha_s(\mu_0)} \left(\frac{1}{r} - 1 + \log r\right)\right] \left(\frac{k}{\mu_0^p}\right)^{\frac{\Gamma_{11}^{(0)}}{2\beta_0} \log(r)} \\ &\equiv \theta(k) U_{\delta\theta}^{\text{LL}}(k,\mu,\mu_0) \,. \end{aligned}$$

Note that this is simply obtained from the starting result in eq. (A.3) by taking $iye^{\gamma_E} \rightarrow 1/k$ everywhere, except for in the explicit prefactor $1/(y - i0) \rightarrow \theta(k)$. eq. (A.5) is the LL solution to the subleading RG mixing equation in momentum space which was quoted in the main text in eq. (3.28).

B Leading logarithms for thrust from collinear limits of amplitudes

In this appendix we explain how to obtain the LP LL series for thrust using only the information from collinear limits of scattering amplitudes. The NLP case, which is the focus of this paper, is similar. However, here we present the LP case in detail since this approach to obtaining the LL series is not traditional. The key idea is that the infrared scale dependence should cancel out in a physical cross section. Just as in the NLP analysis leading to eq. (5.3), consistency at LP implies that the LL term can be obtained from loop corrections to the amplitude for a single collinear emission encoded in coefficients $d_{hc,2N}^{(0)}$,

$$\frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{d\sigma^{(0,N)}}{d\tau} = d_{hc,2N}^{(0)} \frac{\log^{2N-1} \tau}{\tau} + \cdots .$$
(B.1)

We will work this out explicitly for the first two loop orders below.

Here, as in the text, we take thrust for Higgs decay in pure glue QCD as an example. We write the NLO cumulant at LP as

$$R^{(0,1)}(\tau) = \frac{1}{\sigma_0} \int_0^\tau d\tau' \frac{d\sigma^{(0,1)}}{d\tau'}$$
$$= \frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi} \frac{C_A}{\epsilon^2} \left(c_h \left(\frac{\mu^2}{Q^2} \right)^\epsilon + c_c \left(\frac{\mu^2}{\tau Q^2} \right)^\epsilon + c_s \left(\frac{\mu^2}{\tau^2 Q^2} \right)^\epsilon \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} \right) , \qquad (B.2)$$

where we have separated the contribution between hard virtual corrections c_h , collinear corrections c_c , and soft corrections c_s . For a physical cross section both the divergent terms and the LL μ dependence should cancel. In particular, they should cancel between the $1/\epsilon^2$ terms in eq. (B.2). There is no cancellation between the expansion of the $1/\epsilon^2$ terms and the $\mathcal{O}(1/\epsilon)$ terms. That's why we don't need to write down the $\mathcal{O}(1/\epsilon)$ terms explicitly, at least for LL. It then follows that

$$c_h = -\frac{1}{2}c_c$$
, $c_s = -\frac{1}{2}c_c$. (B.3)

Substituting the relation in eq. (B.3) into eq. (B.2), we find

$$R^{(0,1)}(\tau) = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi} C_A c_c \log^2 \tau + \text{subleading logs}.$$
(B.4)

That is, the leading logarithm at NLO is uniquely determined by the contribution from the hard collinear splitting. Specifically, at NLO for thrust, the collinear corrections to the cumulant can be written as

$$R_{c,\text{LL}}^{(0,1)}(\tau) = 2 \frac{\alpha_s \mu^{2\epsilon}}{4\pi} \int_0^{\tau Q^2} \frac{ds}{Q^2} \int_0^1 dz \frac{e^{\epsilon \gamma_E} [sz(1-z)]^{-\epsilon}}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)} C_A P_{gg,\text{LL}}^{(0,0)}$$
$$= \frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi} \frac{8C_A}{\epsilon^2} \left(\frac{\mu^2}{\tau Q^2}\right)^{\epsilon} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon}\right) \,, \tag{B.5}$$

where $P_{gg,LL}^{(0,0)}$ is introduced in eq. (5.11). Therefore $c_c = 8$, and $R^{(0,1)}(\tau) = -\frac{\alpha_s}{\pi}C_A \log^2 \tau +$ subleading logs.

At NNLO, there are several combinations of different modes, but the idea is similar. We write the cumulant as

$$R^{(0,2)}(\tau) = \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^2 \frac{C_A^2}{\epsilon^4} \left(c_{hh} \left(\frac{\mu^4}{Q^4}\right)^{\epsilon} + c_{hc} \left(\frac{\mu^4}{\tau Q^4}\right)^{\epsilon} + (c_{cc} + c_{hs}) \left(\frac{\mu^4}{\tau^2 Q^4}\right)^{\epsilon} + c_{cs} \left(\frac{\mu^4}{\tau^3 Q^4}\right)^{\epsilon} + c_{ss} \left(\frac{\mu^4}{\tau^4 Q^4}\right)^{\epsilon}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon^3}\right),$$
(B.6)

Here c_{hh} denotes hard modes contributions from pure virtual diagrams, c_{hc} denotes realvirtual contributions with virtual hard mode and real collinear mode, c_{cc} denotes both real-virtual or double real contributions with virtual or real collinear modes, c_{hs} denotes real-virtual contributions with virtual hard mode and real soft mode, and finally c_{ss} denotes real-virtual or double real contributions with virtual or real soft modes. Demanding that all the poles and μ dependence from expanding the $1/\epsilon^4$ terms cancel, we find

$$c_{hc} = -4c_{hh}, \qquad c_{cc} + c_{hs} = 6c_{hh}, \qquad c_{cs} = -4c_{hh}, \qquad c_{ss} = c_{hh}.$$
 (B.7)

We then find

$$R^{(0,2)}(\tau) = -\left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^2 \frac{C_A^2}{4} c_{hc} \log^4 \tau + \text{subleading logs}\,. \tag{B.8}$$

Specifically, the real-virtual collinear corrections to the cumulant is given by

$$R_{RVc,\text{LL}}^{(0,2)}(\tau) = 2\frac{\alpha_s \mu^{2\epsilon}}{4\pi} \int_0^{\tau Q^2} \frac{ds}{Q^2} \int_0^1 dz \frac{e^{\epsilon \gamma_E} [sz(1-z)]^{-\epsilon}}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)} C_A P_{gg,\text{LL}}^{(0,0)} \left(F_{\text{dipole}} + F_R\right) , \quad (B.9)$$

where we have separated the corrections into the dipole term and the remainder term, see eq. (5.14) and (5.23). The dipole term gives

$$R_{RVc,\text{dipole,LL}}^{(0,2)}(\tau) = \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^2 \left[-\frac{24C_A^2}{\epsilon^4} \left(\frac{\mu^4}{\tau Q^4}\right)^\epsilon - \frac{8C_A^2}{\epsilon^4} \left(\frac{\mu^4}{\tau^2 Q^4}\right)^\epsilon\right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon^3}\right). \quad (B.10)$$

And the remainder term gives

$$R_{RVc,R,\text{LL}}^{(0,2)}(\tau) = \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^2 \left[-\frac{8C_A^2}{\epsilon^4} \left(\frac{\mu^4}{\tau Q^4}\right)^\epsilon + \frac{4C_A^2}{\epsilon^4} \left(\frac{\mu^4}{\tau^2 Q^4}\right)^\epsilon\right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon^3}\right). \tag{B.11}$$

Adding the dipole and remainder terms, we find that the hard-collinear coefficient is $c_{hc} = -32$, and the NNLO cumulant is

$$R^{(0,2)}(\tau) = \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi}\right)^2 8 C_A^2 \log^4 \tau + \text{subleading logs}.$$
(B.12)

This is the correct leading logarithm for thrust. We see explicitly that both the dipole term and the remainder term contribute to thrust at LL. The analysis above can be straightforwardly carried out to all orders in α_s .

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- A.V. Manohar, T. Mehen, D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, Reparameterization invariance for collinear operators, Phys. Lett. B 539 (2002) 59 [hep-ph/0204229] [INSPIRE].
- M. Beneke, A.P. Chapovsky, M. Diehl and T. Feldmann, Soft collinear effective theory and heavy to light currents beyond leading power, Nucl. Phys. B 643 (2002) 431
 [hep-ph/0206152] [INSPIRE].
- [3] D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, A complete basis for power suppressed collinear ultrasoft operators, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 094005 [Erratum ibid. D 69 (2004) 019903]
 [hep-ph/0211251] [INSPIRE].
- [4] M. Beneke and T. Feldmann, Multipole expanded soft collinear effective theory with nonAbelian gauge symmetry, Phys. Lett. B 553 (2003) 267 [hep-ph/0211358] [INSPIRE].
- [5] C.W. Bauer, D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, On Power suppressed operators and gauge invariance in SCET, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 034021 [hep-ph/0303156] [INSPIRE].

- [6] R.J. Hill, T. Becher, S.J. Lee and M. Neubert, Sudakov resummation for subleading SCET currents and heavy-to-light form-factors, JHEP 07 (2004) 081 [hep-ph/0404217] [INSPIRE].
- [7] K.S.M. Lee and I.W. Stewart, Factorization for power corrections to $B \to X_s \gamma$ and $B \to X_u l \bar{\nu}$, Nucl. Phys. **B** 721 (2005) 325 [hep-ph/0409045] [INSPIRE].
- [8] Yu. L. Dokshitzer, G. Marchesini and G.P. Salam, *Revisiting parton evolution and the large-x limit*, *Phys. Lett.* B 634 (2006) 504 [hep-ph/0511302] [INSPIRE].
- [9] M. Trott and A.R. Williamson, Towards the anomalous dimension to O(Λ_{QCD}/M_b) for phase space restricted B
 → X_ul
 ν
 and B
 → X_sγ, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 034011 [hep-ph/0510203] [INSPIRE].
- [10] E. Laenen, L. Magnea and G. Stavenga, On next-to-eikonal corrections to threshold resummation for the Drell-Yan and DIS cross sections, Phys. Lett. B 669 (2008) 173
 [arXiv:0807.4412] [INSPIRE].
- [11] E. Laenen, G. Stavenga and C.D. White, Path integral approach to eikonal and next-to-eikonal exponentiation, JHEP 03 (2009) 054 [arXiv:0811.2067] [INSPIRE].
- [12] G. Paz, Subleading jet functions in inclusive B decays, JHEP 06 (2009) 083
 [arXiv:0903.3377] [INSPIRE].
- [13] M. Benzke, S.J. Lee, M. Neubert and G. Paz, Factorization at subleading power and irreducible uncertainties in $\bar{B} \to X_s \gamma$ decay, JHEP **08** (2010) 099 [arXiv:1003.5012] [INSPIRE].
- [14] E. Laenen, L. Magnea, G. Stavenga and C.D. White, Next-to-eikonal corrections to soft gluon radiation: a diagrammatic approach, JHEP **01** (2011) 141 [arXiv:1010.1860] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S.M. Freedman, Subleading corrections to thrust using effective field theory, arXiv:1303.1558 [INSPIRE].
- [16] S.M. Freedman and R. Goerke, Renormalization of subleading dijet operators in soft-collinear effective theory, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 114010 [arXiv:1408.6240] [INSPIRE].
- [17] D. Bonocore et al., The method of regions and next-to-soft corrections in Drell-Yan production, Phys. Lett. B 742 (2015) 375 [arXiv:1410.6406] [INSPIRE].
- [18] A.J. Larkoski, D. Neill and I.W. Stewart, Soft theorems from effective field theory, JHEP 06 (2015) 077 [arXiv:1412.3108] [INSPIRE].
- [19] D. Bonocore, E. Laenen, L. Magnea, S. Melville, L. Vernazza and C.D. White, A factorization approach to next-to-leading-power threshold logarithms, JHEP 06 (2015) 008 [arXiv:1503.05156] [INSPIRE].
- [20] D. Bonocore et al., Non-abelian factorisation for next-to-leading-power threshold logarithms, JHEP 12 (2016) 121 [arXiv:1610.06842] [INSPIRE].
- [21] I. Moult et al., Subleading power corrections for N-jettiness subtractions, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 074023 [arXiv:1612.00450] [INSPIRE].
- [22] R. Boughezal, X. Liu and F. Petriello, Power corrections in the N-jettiness subtraction scheme, JHEP 03 (2017) 160 [arXiv:1612.02911] [INSPIRE].
- [23] V. Del Duca et al., Universality of next-to-leading power threshold effects for colourless final states in hadronic collisions, JHEP 11 (2017) 057 [arXiv:1706.04018] [INSPIRE].
- [24] I. Balitsky and A. Tarasov, Higher-twist corrections to gluon TMD factorization, JHEP 07 (2017) 095 [arXiv:1706.01415] [INSPIRE].

- [25] I. Moult et al., *N*-jettiness subtractions for $gg \rightarrow H$ at subleading power, *Phys. Rev.* D 97 (2018) 014013 [arXiv:1710.03227] [INSPIRE].
- [26] R. Goerke and M. Inglis-Whalen, Renormalization of dijet operators at order $1/Q^2$ in soft-collinear effective theory, JHEP 05 (2018) 023 [arXiv:1711.09147] [INSPIRE].
- [27] I. Balitsky and A. Tarasov, Power corrections to TMD factorization for Z-boson production, JHEP 05 (2018) 150 [arXiv:1712.09389] [INSPIRE].
- [28] M. Beneke et al., Anomalous dimension of subleading-power N-jet operators, JHEP 03 (2018) 001 [arXiv:1712.04416] [INSPIRE].
- [29] I. Feige et al., A complete basis of helicity operators for subleading factorization, JHEP 11 (2017) 142 [arXiv:1703.03411] [INSPIRE].
- [30] I. Moult, I.W. Stewart and G. Vita, A subleading operator basis and matching for $gg \rightarrow H$, JHEP 07 (2017) 067 [arXiv:1703.03408] [INSPIRE].
- [31] C.-H. Chang, I.W. Stewart and G. Vita, A Subleading Power Operator Basis for the Scalar Quark Current, JHEP 04 (2018) 041 [arXiv:1712.04343] [INSPIRE].
- [32] C.W. Bauer, S. Fleming and M.E. Luke, Summing Sudakov logarithms in $B \to X_s \gamma$ in effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2000) 014006 [hep-ph/0005275] [INSPIRE].
- [33] C.W. Bauer et al., An effective field theory for collinear and soft gluons: heavy to light decays, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 114020 [hep-ph/0011336] [INSPIRE].
- [34] C.W. Bauer and I.W. Stewart, Invariant operators in collinear effective theory, Phys. Lett. B 516 (2001) 134 [hep-ph/0107001] [INSPIRE].
- [35] C.W. Bauer, D. Pirjol and I.W. Stewart, Soft collinear factorization in effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 054022 [hep-ph/0109045] [INSPIRE].
- [36] E. Farhi, A QCD test for jets, Phys. Rev. Lett. **39** (1977) 1587 [INSPIRE].
- [37] V.V. Sudakov, Vertex parts at very high-energies in quantum electrodynamics, Sov. Phys. JETP 3 (1956) 65 [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 30 (1956) 87] [INSPIRE].
- [38] J.C. Collins and D.E. Soper, Back-to-back jets in QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 193 (1981) 381
 [Erratum ibid. B 213 (1983) 545] [INSPIRE].
- [39] J.C. Collins, D.E. Soper and G.F. Sterman, Factorization for short distance hadron-hadron scattering, Nucl. Phys. B 261 (1985) 104 [INSPIRE].
- [40] J.C. Collins, D.E. Soper and G.F. Sterman, Soft Gluons and Factorization, Nucl. Phys. B 308 (1988) 833 [INSPIRE].
- [41] J.C. Collins, D.E. Soper and G.F. Sterman, Factorization of hard processes in QCD, Adv. Ser. Direct. High Energy Phys. 5 (1989) 1 [hep-ph/0409313] [INSPIRE].
- [42] G.F. Sterman, Summation of Large Corrections to Short Distance Hadronic Cross-Sections, Nucl. Phys. B 281 (1987) 310 [INSPIRE].
- [43] C.W. Bauer et al., Hard scattering factorization from effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 014017 [hep-ph/0202088] [INSPIRE].
- [44] S. Fleming, A.H. Hoang, S. Mantry and I.W. Stewart, Jets from massive unstable particles: top-mass determination, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 074010 [hep-ph/0703207] [INSPIRE].
- [45] M.D. Schwartz, Resummation and NLO matching of event shapes with effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 014026 [arXiv:0709.2709] [INSPIRE].

- [46] G.P. Korchemsky and G.F. Sterman, Power corrections to event shapes and factorization, Nucl. Phys. B 555 (1999) 335 [hep-ph/9902341] [INSPIRE].
- [47] S. Catani, G. Turnock, B.R. Webber and L. Trentadue, Thrust distribution in e⁺e⁻ annihilation, Phys. Lett. B 263 (1991) 491 [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. Catani, L. Trentadue, G. Turnock and B.R. Webber, Resummation of large logarithms in e^+e^- event shape distributions, Nucl. Phys. B 407 (1993) 3 [INSPIRE].
- [49] T. Becher and M.D. Schwartz, A precise determination of α_s from LEP thrust data using effective field theory, JHEP 07 (2008) 034 [arXiv:0803.0342] [INSPIRE].
- [50] R. Abbate et al., Thrust at $N^3 LL$ with power corrections and a precision global fit for $\alpha_s(m_Z)$, Phys. Rev. **D** 83 (2011) 074021 [arXiv:1006.3080] [INSPIRE].
- [51] Y.-T. Chien and M.D. Schwartz, Resummation of heavy jet mass and comparison to LEP data, JHEP 08 (2010) 058 [arXiv:1005.1644] [INSPIRE].
- [52] A.H. Hoang et al., C-parameter distribution at N³LL' including power corrections, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 094017 [arXiv:1411.6633] [INSPIRE].
- [53] I. Moult and H.X. Zhu, Simplicity from recoil: the three-loop soft function and factorization for the energy-energy correlation, arXiv:1801.02627 [INSPIRE].
- [54] M. Beneke and T. Feldmann, Factorization of heavy to light form-factors in soft collinear effective theory, Nucl. Phys. B 685 (2004) 249 [hep-ph/0311335] [INSPIRE].
- [55] R. Boughezal, A. Isgrò and F. Petriello, Next-to-leading-logarithmic power corrections for N-jettiness subtraction in color-singlet production, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 076006
 [arXiv:1802.00456] [INSPIRE].
- [56] I. Moult et al., Fermionic Glauber operators and quark reggeization, JHEP 02 (2018) 134 [arXiv:1709.09174] [INSPIRE].
- [57] R. Brüser, S. Caron-Huot and J.M. Henn, Subleading Regge limit from a soft anomalous dimension, JHEP 04 (2018) 047 [arXiv:1802.02524] [INSPIRE].
- [58] T. Liu and A.A. Penin, High-energy limit of QCD beyond the Sudakov approximation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 262001 [arXiv:1709.01092] [INSPIRE].
- [59] I. Moult, I. W. Stewart and G. Vita, Subleading power factorization with radiative functions, MIT-CTP 4948, to appear.
- [60] C. Lee and G.F. Sterman, Momentum flow correlations from event shapes: factorized soft gluons and soft-collinear effective theory, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 014022 [hep-ph/0611061] [INSPIRE].
- [61] N.A. Sveshnikov and F.V. Tkachov, Jets and quantum field theory, Phys. Lett. B 382 (1996) 403 [hep-ph/9512370] [INSPIRE].
- [62] G.P. Korchemsky, G. Oderda and G.F. Sterman, Power corrections and nonlocal operators, AIP Conf. Proc. 407 (1997) 988 [hep-ph/9708346] [INSPIRE].
- [63] C.W. Bauer et al., Factorization of e⁺e⁻ event shape distributions with hadronic final states in soft collinear effective theory, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 034027 [arXiv:0801.4569]
 [INSPIRE].
- [64] A.V. Belitsky, G.P. Korchemsky and G.F. Sterman, Energy flow in QCD and event shape functions, Phys. Lett. B 515 (2001) 297 [hep-ph/0106308] [INSPIRE].

- [65] V. Mateu, I.W. Stewart and J. Thaler, Power corrections to event shapes with mass-dependent operators, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 014025 [arXiv:1209.3781] [INSPIRE].
- [66] G.P. Korchemsky and A.V. Radyushkin, Renormalization of the Wilson loops beyond the leading order, Nucl. Phys. B 283 (1987) 342 [INSPIRE].
- [67] I.A. Korchemskaya and G.P. Korchemsky, On lightlike Wilson loops, Phys. Lett. B 287 (1992) 169 [INSPIRE].
- [68] D.W. Kolodrubetz, I. Moult and I.W. Stewart, Building blocks for subleading helicity operators, JHEP 05 (2016) 139 [arXiv:1601.02607] [INSPIRE].
- [69] J. Chay and C. Kim, Collinear effective theory at subleading order and its application to heavy-light currents, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 114016 [hep-ph/0201197] [INSPIRE].
- [70] F.E. Low, Bremsstrahlung of very low-energy quanta in elementary particle collisions, Phys. Rev. 110 (1958) 974 [INSPIRE].
- [71] T.H. Burnett and N.M. Kroll, Extension of the low soft photon theorem, Phys. Rev. Lett. 20 (1968) 86 [INSPIRE].
- [72] A.V. Manohar, Deep inelastic scattering as $x \to 1$ using soft collinear effective theory, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 114019 [hep-ph/0309176] [INSPIRE].
- [73] M. Beneke, F. Campanario, T. Mannel and B.D. Pecjak, Power corrections to $\bar{B} \to X_u l \bar{\nu}(X_s \gamma)$ decay spectra in the 'shape-function' region, JHEP 06 (2005) 071 [hep-ph/0411395] [INSPIRE].
- [74] L.W. Garland et al., The two loop QCD matrix element for $e^+e^- \rightarrow 3$ jets, Nucl. Phys. B 627 (2002) 107 [hep-ph/0112081] [INSPIRE].
- [75] L.W. Garland et al., Two loop QCD helicity amplitudes for $e^+e^- \rightarrow$ three jets, Nucl. Phys. B 642 (2002) 227 [hep-ph/0206067] [INSPIRE].
- [76] T. Gehrmann, M. Jaquier, E.W.N. Glover and A. Koukoutsakis, *Two-loop QCD corrections* to the helicity amplitudes for $H \rightarrow 3$ partons, *JHEP* **02** (2012) 056 [arXiv:1112.3554] [INSPIRE].
- [77] S. Catani, The singular behavior of QCD amplitudes at two loop order, Phys. Lett. B 427 (1998) 161 [hep-ph/9802439] [INSPIRE].
- [78] L.J. Dixon, L. Magnea and G.F. Sterman, Universal structure of subleading infrared poles in gauge theory amplitudes, JHEP 08 (2008) 022 [arXiv:0805.3515] [INSPIRE].
- [79] T. Becher and M. Neubert, On the structure of infrared singularities of gauge-theory amplitudes, JHEP 06 (2009) 081 [Erratum ibid. 11 (2013) 024] [arXiv:0903.1126]
 [INSPIRE].
- [80] E. Gardi and L. Magnea, Factorization constraints for soft anomalous dimensions in QCD scattering amplitudes, JHEP 03 (2009) 079 [arXiv:0901.1091] [INSPIRE].
- [81] Ø. Almelid, C. Duhr and E. Gardi, Three-loop corrections to the soft anomalous dimension in multileg scattering, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 172002 [arXiv:1507.00047] [INSPIRE].
- [82] B.R. Webber, A QCD model for jet fragmentation including soft gluon interference, Nucl. Phys. B 238 (1984) 492 [INSPIRE].
- [83] G. Marchesini and B.R. Webber, Simulation of QCD jets including soft gluon interference, Nucl. Phys. B 238 (1984) 1 [INSPIRE].

- [84] G. Marchesini and B.R. Webber, Monte Carlo simulation of general hard processes with coherent QCD radiation, Nucl. Phys. B 310 (1988) 461 [INSPIRE].
- [85] D. Nandan, J. Plefka and W. Wormsbecher, Collinear limits beyond the leading order from the scattering equations, JHEP 02 (2017) 038 [arXiv:1608.04730] [INSPIRE].
- [86] S. Caron-Huot et al., Bootstrapping a five-loop amplitude using Steinmann relations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 241601 [arXiv:1609.00669] [INSPIRE].
- [87] I.W. Stewart, F.J. Tackmann and W.J. Waalewijn, N-jettiness: an inclusive event shape to veto jets, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 092002 [arXiv:1004.2489] [INSPIRE].